

LUND UNIVERSITY

Reproductive function in young Swedish men - Time trend, prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and phthalates

Axelsson, Jonatan

2015

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Axelsson, J. (2015). Reproductive function in young Swedish men - Time trend, prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and phthalates. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Translational Medicine]. Molecular Reproductive Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Reproductive function in young Swedish men

Time trend, prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and phthalates

Jonatan Axelsson

Department of Translational Medicine Molecular Reproductive Medicine



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, KK Aula, Jan Waldenströms gata 47 Friday 22nd May, 2015 at 13.00.

Faculty opponent

Professor Richard Sharpe, University of Edinburgh

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Faculty of Medicine Department of Translational Medicine	Date of issue 22 nd May 2015	
Molecular Reproductive Medicine	22 May 2013	
	Sponsoring organization	
Author: Jonatan Axelsson	1, 1	
Title and subtitle Reproductive function in young S		
Time trend, prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and phthalates Abstract		
A decrease in male reproductive function, includingsperm counts, during the second half of the 20 th century, has been postulated. During this period, testicular cancer has increased several-fold. Environmental and lifestyle-related factors have been proposed as explanations for a possible negative trend in male reproductive function. One important lifestyle factor is smoking. However, smoking during pregnancy appears to play a greater role for a man's reproductive function than smoking by the man himself. As regards environmental chemicals, one type of compound to which humans are exposed is phthalates. These are often used as plasticizers in different consumer products. Several phthalates have been reported as decreasing male reproductive function in laboratory animals, especially when given during the foetal period. Between 2008 and 2010, 314 men from the general Swedish population were recruited. Their semen quality was compared with a group of men recruited in a similar manner between 2000 and 2001.		
The participants also delivered serum and urinary samples and answered question naires concerning maternal and paternal smoking during pregnancy. Data on maternal smoking was additionally assessed through the Swedish Medical Birth Register. Through a Swedish screening program for rubella, maternal serum samples were retrieved from the men's prenatal period. We analysed metabolites of phthalates as exposure markers both in the maternal sera and in urine and serum of the men. Associations between parental smoking during pregnancy as well as phthalate metabolite levels, and parameters of male reproductive function were studied.		
In summary, we found no change in semen quality between 2000-2001 and 2008-2010. However, both maternal and paternal smoking during pregnancy were associated with reduced sperm counts in men whose other parent did not smoke. In addition, prenatal exposure to diethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) and diisononyl phthalate (DiNP) appeared to be associated with decreased semen volume, and exposure to DiNP as well with smaller testicular size. Finally, adult exposure to DEHP and dibutyl phthalate (DBP) were associated with decreased progressive sperm motility, and DEHP exposure was also linked to a higher proportion of immature sperm. Thus, although no change in semen quality appeared to have occurred in Swedish men during the last decade, parental smoking and prenatal and adult exposure to certain phthalates may play a role in the male reproductive function.		
Key words: Semen analysis, maternal exposure, paternal	l exposure, smoking, phtł	nalate
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English
		Lungungu Engion
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN
Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Disser	tation series 2015:45	978-91-7619-124-8
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	
I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all		
reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.		

Signature_____Date_____

Reproductive function in young Swedish men

Time trend, prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and phthalates

Jonatan Axelsson



Faculty of Medicine Department of Translational Medicine Molecular Reproductive Medicine Lund University 2015 Copyright Jonatan Axelsson

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Translational Medicine ISBN 978-91-7619-124-8 ISSN 1652-8220

Cover photo design by Gunilla Albertén:

- 1) Part of a container for semen collection, photo by Jonatan Axelsson
- 2) Semen sample from an external quality control, Karolinska University Hospital
- 3) A smoking Humphrey Bogart from Casablanca trailer screenshot [Public domain] via Wikimedia Commons
- 4) Rubber duck, photo by Jonatan Axelsson
- 5) Pregnant woman, photo by Kennet Ruona, Lund University Image bank

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2015



Contents

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	7
List of papers	9
Abbreviations	11
Background	13
Trends in sperm counts Infertility Trends in testicular cancer	13 14 14
Trends in the incidence of male genital malformation Testicular dysgenesis syndrome	15 16
The male reproductive system The development of the male reproductive organs	16 16
The testicle Spermatogenesis Male reproductive hormones and the hypothalamic-pituitary-	17 18 gonadal axis:
	18
Measurement of semen quality	19
Environment, lifestyle and the male reproductive function Smoking and male reproductive function	20 21
Parental smoking and reproductive function in sons Phthalates	21 22
Aims	27
Subjects and methods	29
Subjects	29
Cohort A	29
Cohort B	29
Physical examination	30
Questionnaire	30
Samples from the men	30

Semen analysis	31
Analyses of reproductive hormones	31
Register data on maternal smoking	32
Maternal sampling in pregnancy	32
Analyses of phthalate exposure	32
Analyses of maternal serum	32
Analyses of men's urine	33
Analyses of men's serum	34
Statistical methods	34
Paper I Bapar II	34 35
Paper II Paper III	36
Paper IV	36
Results	37
Time trend in semen quality over the previous decade	37
Own and parental smoking in relation to semen quality	37
Prenatal exposure to phthalates and male reproductive function	38
Adult exposure to phthalates in relation to semen quality	39
Discussion	43
Time trend in semen quality	43
Smoking exposure and semen quality	43
Phthalate exposure and male reproductive function	45
Misclassification of exposures	47
Potential confounding	48
Potential effects of childhood exposures	48
Clinical relevance	48
Summary	49
Conclusions	51
Future perspectives	53
Acknowledgements	55
References	57
Original papers	

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Det har diskuterats huruvida mäns spermiekoncentration minskat och missbildningar i pojkars könsorgan ökat under den senare delen av 1900-talet. Med säkerhet har dock testikelcancer ökat flerfaldigt under samma tidsperiod.

Målet med denna avhandling var dels att undersöka huruvida skånska mäns spermakvalitet hade förändrats under det förra årtiondet, dels att studera samband mellan olika miljöfaktorer och manlig reproduktionsfunktion. Dessa miljöfaktorer var exponering för egen rökning, föräldrarnas rökning under graviditeten, samt för ftalater (en sorts plastmjukgörare) både under fostertiden och i vuxenlivet.

Vi rekryterade 314 unga män mellan år 2008 och 2010, främst från Pliktverket i Kristianstad i samband med mönstringen, och i viss utsträckning också män från gymnasieskolor i Malmö-Lund-området. Männen fick besvara frågor om föräldrarnas rökning under graviditeten. Uppgifter om moderns rökning inhämtades även från Socialstyrelsens födelseregister.

Vi hade tillgång till blodprov från 112 av männens mödrar, tagna under graviditeten. Dessa prov hade tagits vid en screening för röda hund, varefter proven sparats i en biobank. I dessa prov, liksom i urin- och blodprov från männen själva, mättes nedbrytningsprodukter (metaboliter) av ftalater som markörer för exponering.

De rekryterade männens spermakvalitet jämfördes med den hos män rekryterade på ett liknande sätt år 2000 till 2001. Därefter studerades samband mellan exponering för både rökning och ftalater såväl under fostertiden som i vuxenlivet, och männens reproduktionsfunktion.

Vi fann inte någon förändring i spermakvaliteten under det senaste årtiondet.

Däremot hade de män vars fäder eller mödrar rökt under graviditeten ett påtagligt lägre spermieantal. Vidare tycktes exponering under fostertiden för de två ftalaterna diisononylftalat (DiNP) och dietylhexylftalat (DEHP) ha samband med en sänkt testikelvolym respektive spermavolym. Slutligen hade exponering för DEHP och dibutylftalat (DBP) i vuxenlivet samband med en lägre andel framåtrörliga spermier, vilket kan tänkas påverka fertiliteten.

Således verkade både exponering föräldrarnas rökning under graviditeten och för ftalater under fostertiden samt i vuxenlivet, ha samband med en sänkt manlig reproduktionsfunktion.

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Axelsson J, Rylander L, Rignell-Hydbom A, Giwercman A. No secular trend over the last decade in sperm counts among Swedish men from the general population. *Human Reproduction*. 2011; 26: 1012-1016
- II. Axelsson J, Rylander L, Rignell-Hydbom A, Silfver K Å, Stenqvist A, Giwercman A. The Impact of Paternal and Maternal Smoking on Semen Quality of Adolescent Men. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8: e66766
- III. Axelsson J, Rylander L, Rignell-Hydbom A, Lindh CH, Jönsson BA, Giwercman A. Prenatal phthalate exposure and reproductive function in young men. *Environmental Research*. 2015; 138C: 264-270
- IV. Axelsson J, Rylander L, Rignell-Hydbom A, Lindh CH, Jönsson BA, Giwercman A. Phthalate exposure and semen quality in young men from the general Swedish population. *Submitted*

Abbreviations

AGD	anogenital distance
CI	confidence interval
DBP	dibutyl phthalate
DEHP	diethylhexyl phthalate
DEP	diethyl phthalate
DFI	DNA Fragmentation Index
DiNP	diisononyl phthalate
FSH	follicle-stimulating hormone
HDS	high DNA stainability
LH	luteinizing hormone
LOD	level of detection
MBP	monobutyl phthalate (a metabolite of DBP)
MBzP	monobenzyl phthalate (a metabolite of BBzP)
MCiOP	mono-(carboxy-iso-octyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DiNP)
MEHHP	mono-(2-ethyl-5-hydroxylhexyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DEHP)
MEHP	mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DEHP)
MECPP	mono-(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DEHP)
MEOHP	mono-(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DEHP)
MEP	monoethyl phthalate (a metabolite of DEP)
MHiNP	mono-(hydroxyl-iso-nonyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DiNP)
MOiNP	mono-(oxo-iso-nonyl) phthalate (a metabolite of DiNP)
MPW	masculinization programming window
SHBG	sex-hormone binding globulin
TC	testicular cancer

Background

Environmental effects on the human reproductive function is not a new issue, but has even been suggested as having caused the fall of the Rome Empire (Gilfillan 1965).

Trends in sperm counts

More recently, a 50% decline in sperm count in 50 years was suggested (Carlsen et al. 1992). This was the result of a meta-analysis including 61 papers on men without infertility from several different countries during the period. The decline in sperm count was suggested to indicate serious implications for human reproductive health (Carlsen et al. 1992). A reanalysis of the papers included and additionally 47 studies performed between 1934 and 1996, with a partial adjustment for geographic region and abstinence period, found virtually the same decline (Swan et al. 2000). Some other studies have also reported a decline, whereas others found no change or even an increase in sperm count (Fisch and Braun 2013). Few of these studies, however, included the early part of the period covered by the first papers (Carlsen et al. 1992, Swan et al. 2000).

Whether a decline in sperm count or semen quality really has occurred has been heavily debated (Brinkworth and Handelsman 2010, Pacey 2013) and no consensus has been reached. One problem of the studies reporting a decline in sperm count (Carlsen et al. 1992, Swan et al. 2000) could be that the method used for sperm counting may have differed in the earlier studies as compared to the later ones (Pacey 2013). This may have led to gradually lower estimated sperm counts, and thus a false appearance of decrease. Another problem may be that geographical differences in sperm count, even within nations, were not taken into account (Fisch and Braun 2013).

Consequently, in order to confidently assess potential time trends in semen quality, prospective studies using standardized methods to assess semen quality over time are necessary. At the beginning of this PhD project, such studies were few or non-existent.

Infertility

Infertility, defined as not achieving a pregnancy within one year of regular unprotected intercourse, is a common problem. One in six couples of reproductive age are considered to be infertile, and the male factor contributes in about 50% of these cases (Nieschlag 2010).

Trends in fertility are difficult to study due to the influence of social factors. Nevertheless, some studies have reported a time-related increase in fertility problems (Lassen et al. 2012, Priskorn et al. 2012), whereas others have not (Akre et al. 1999, Joffe et al. 2013).

Trends in testicular cancer

During the same period as it was suggested that sperm counts decreased, an increase in testicular cancer (TC), by a factor of three to four, has been reported in the Western World (Brinkworth and Handelsman 2010) also in the Nordic countries (Figure 1). TC is the most common form of cancer in 15 to 40 year-old men in most developed countries (Znaor et al. 2014).

Still, the incidence of TC varies widely between certain different countries, beingmuch higher in Norway and Denmark than in Finland (Figure 1) (Trabert et al. 2015). At the same time, high TC incidence appears to coincide with low sperm counts in Norway and Denmark (Jorgensen et al. 2002). Also at the individual level, men with TC often have reduced sperm counts or fertility (Juul et al. 2014). In parallel, subfertile men may have an increased risk of TC (Garner et al. 2005).

Men living in a country with a low incidence of TC moving to a country with a high incidence seem to maintain their low TC risk, but if they father sons the sons will run a higher risk, more similar to that of the new country (Hemminki and Li 2002, Myrup et al. 2008). In addition, the risk of TC appears to follow birth cohorts since, for example, men born during the Second World War have a decreased risk (Olesen et al. 2007). These patterns are hard to explain by genetic factors. Consequently environmental or lifestyle-related factors (Hemminki and Li 2002, Olesen et al. 2007) possibly acting in early life or *in utero* (Myrup et al. 2008), have been proposed as causes. Indeed, some studies have reported higher levels of certain persistent pollutants in men, or mothers of men, with TC (Hardell et al. 2006, McGlynn et al. 2008).

Testis Incidence: ASR (World) age 0-85+



NORDCAN @ Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries (6.3.2015)

Figure 1

Incidence in testicular cancer in the Nordic countries between 1943 and 2010, according to an online analysis through the NORDCAN database and program (Engholm et al. 2010, Engholm et al. 2014)

Trends in the incidence of male genital malformation

In addition to the previously mentioned confirmed or suggested changes in male reproductive disorders, it has been proposed that an increase in male genital malformation has occurred during the same period (Nordkap et al. 2012, Toppari et al. 2001, Toppari et al. 2010).

The two most common such malformations are cryptorchidism, or undescended testis, and hypospadias (Toppari et al. 2001), the former being the overall most common birth defect in newborn boys (Toppari et al. 2010). Hypospadias is a condition when the opening of the urethra is not located at the tip of the penis, but somewhere underneath.

However, changes in the incidence of these malformations have been hard to establish due to a lack of consensus regarding diagnostic criteria and, as a result, time-related differences in registration routines (Toppari et al. 2001). In one case a modification of a national registration system led to a sudden change in registered incidence (Toppari et al. 2001). Certain countries have even stopped registering cryptorchidism due to poor reporting. Nevertheless, through a study using common methods and definitions, the incidences of cryptorchidism (Boisen et al. 2004) and hypospadias (Boisen et al. 2005, Virtanen et al. 2001) were reported to be considerably higher in Denmark than in Finland. This difference was in line with the differences in TC and sperm count between the two countries, and also in line with a later report of smaller testicles in Danish than in Finnish newborn boys (Main et al. 2006).

Although the etiology of these malformations is largely unknown, higher levels of chlorinated pesticides (Damgaard et al. 2006) and certain brominated flame retardants (Main et al. 2007) have been reported in mothers of newborn boys with cryptorchidism. These studies may indicate the general importance of environmental factors to the human male reproductive development.

Testicular dysgenesis syndrome

It has been suggested that hypospadias, cryptorchidism, TC and low sperm count have a common origin *in utero* (Skakkebaek et al. 2001). Thus, these different inter-related disorders are suggested as different symptoms of a common entity, the testicular dysgenesis syndrome (TDS). One proposed mechanism leading to TDS is a disturbed embryonal programming and gonadal development, mediated through adverse environmental factors.

A similar syndrome to TDS can be induced in rats by exposure to certain compounds of a group of chemicals called phthalate esters or phthalates, during the foetal period (Foster 2006). Thus, one pathway to TDS might be that certain chemicals alter hormonal action through an 'endocrine disruption' (Sharpe and Skakkebaek 2008).

The male reproductive system

The development of the male reproductive organs

Interference with the male sexual differentiation is an area of particular interest regarding endocrine disruption (Sharpe 2006). The basic developmental path of the human embryo is a female development, unless masculinization is actively induced

(Larsen 2001). Completion of the testicular formation needs hormonal intervention through anti-Müllerian hormone, testosterone and insulin-like factor 3 (Sharpe 2006). Hence, unlike the female development, the male development is totally hormone-dependent and therefore more susceptible to interference from endocrine-disrupting compounds. A specific window has been identified in rats, during which the masculinization of the reproductive tract is programmed. This window was suggested to occur in humans between the 8th and 14th gestational weeks (Welsh et al. 2008). In rats, exposures leading to decreased testosterone production during this window cause reduced size of the male rat's reproductive organs (Macleod et al. 2010).

The testicle

The testes produce the male gametes (sperm) and androgens such as testosterone (Weinbauer et al. 2010).

The testis has two different functional compartments: the seminiferous tubules where the sperm are produced, and the interstitial compartment containing the testosterone-producing Leydig cells (Figure 2).



Figure 2

Biopsy of a human testis. Large rounded structures represent the seminferous tubules where the spermatogenesis takes place. The space between the tubules represents the interstitial compartment. By courtesy of Roy Ehrnström, MD, PhD, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden.

The function of the testis and its compartments is governed by the pituitary gland and the hypothalamus in the brain.

Spermatogenesis

Spermatogenesis is dependent on the supporting Sertoli cells. These are located in the periphery of the tubules (Figure 2) and secrete a number of factors important for spermatogenesis. The total number of Sertoli cells, which appears to increase until 15 years of age, decides the final testicular volume and adult sperm production (Weinbauer et al. 2010).

Spermatogenesis begins with a division of stem cells and ends with a mature sperm, which in all takes around 74 days (Amann 2008, Heller and Clermont 1964). For unknown reasons, the release of sperm into the lumen of the seminiferous tubules (spermiation) may be affected by external factors such as hormonal modifications and toxicants (Alukal et al. 2009).

The maturation of the sperm takes place in the epididymis (Turner 2009). This involves a dramatic increase in motility and potential of fertilization, and takes only a few days (Johnson and Varner 1988). During the maturation, the sperm chromatin condensates through disulfide bonds in DNA-binding proteins called protamines (Cooper and Yeung 2010).

The durations of spermatogenesis and sperm maturation are important to keep in mind when potential effects of toxicants on semen parameters are interpreted (Evans 2007).

Male reproductive hormones and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis

Two important hormones regulate the testicular functions (Sokol 2009). These are the luteinizing hormone (LH) and the follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), together called the gonadotropins, which are secreted by the pituitary gland (Weinbauer et al. 2010). The gonadotropins are, in turn, regulated by the gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), secreted by the hypothalamus in a pulsatile fashion. This leads to the secretion of gonadotropins in discrete peaks, which is most evident for LH because of its shorter half-life. Further, the secretion of gonadotropins is also regulated through a negative feed-back mechanism by gonadal hormones such as testosterone and estradiol from the Leydig cells, and inhibin B from the Sertoli cells (Figure 3).

LH stimulates testosterone production whereas FSH together with testosterone stimulates spermatogenesis (Weinbauer et al. 2010). LH is often elevated in men with a deficient production of androgens due to testicular failure (Simoni and Nieschlag 2010). Similarly, some men with deficient spermatogenesis show an elevated level of FSH. These patterns are due to a lack of the negative feedback by testosterone/estradiol

and inhibin B, respectively (Figure 3). A simultaneous elevation of FSH and LH can be observed in men with more severe testicular damage (Sokol 2009).





Testosterone in plasma is mainly bound to proteins such as sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), so only 2% of the testosterone in plasma circulates freely and biologically active (Simoni and Nieschlag 2010). Testosterone, and its more potent product dihydrotestosterone, exert their effects through binding to the androgen receptor (Weinbauer et al. 2010). The effects of the androgens on spermatogenesis are believed to be mediated via the Sertoli cells, since the germ cells appear to lack androgen receptors (O'Donnell et al. 2006). Besides testosterone and FSH, oestrogen also seems to play a role in spermatogenesis (O'Donnell et al. 2006).

Measurement of semen quality

Male reproductive function can be evaluated through a semen analysis (Cooper 2010). The result of a semen analysis varies with the analytical method and how and where the semen was collected. Consequently, the analysis must be standardized. In order to be able to compare different results, a period of abstinence of between 48 hours and 7 days

should be observed. However, even within this time span the duration of the abstinence period affects the semen parameters (Levitas et al. 2005). Consequently the actual length of the abstinence period should be recorded (Sanchez-Pozo et al. 2013).

The ejaculate should always be examined according to the guidelines specified by WHO (World Health Organization. 1999, 2010b). For the relevant parts of this thesis the previous version (World Health Organization. 1999) was used, since the most recent guidelines were not published during the initial recruitment and semen analysis of the participants.

The most obvious changes between the 1999 and 2010 versions may be the shift in what is considered to be normal values of different semen parameters, such as of sperm concentration from 20×10^6 /mL to 15×10^6 /mL and of the proportion of progressively motile sperm from 50% to 32%.

Environment, lifestyle and the male reproductive function

It appears reasonable that the apparent changes, and geographical differences, in male reproductive health are caused by environmental factors (Bonde and Toppari 2010).

Possibly, even a major part of male reproductive problems in the Western World is caused by such factors, acting either prenatally or postnatally on testicular development and function (Nordkap et al. 2012).

Environmental contaminants, including certain pesticides and organohalogens such as PCB, have been associated with different reproductive disorders in wild-life species including mammals (Hamlin and Guillette 2010, Toppari et al. 1996). Further, experimental exposure of pregnant rats to chemicals with an endocrine-disrupting potential clearly leads to symptoms reminiscent of TDS in the male offspring (Fisher et al. 2003, Hass et al. 2007). This has contributed to an increase of concern for similar effects in humans.

As concerns potential effects of lifestyle and environmental factors in humans, several pesticides, PCB and air pollution appear to negatively affect different aspects of semen quality (Jurewicz et al. 2009). Further, there is some support that mobile phones may adversely affect sperm motility and viability (Adams et al. 2014). However, concerning obesity, no consistent association with semen parameters appears to be present (Barazani et al. 2014). Alcohol intake may affect semen parameters such as sperm counts and morphology (Jensen et al. 2014), but potential effects seem greatest in men with a high intake. Finally, several occupational exposures such as heat, ionizing radiation, welding and several chemicals seem to show strong evidence for adverse effects on the male reproductive function (Jensen et al. 2006).

Nevertheless, evident connections between specific toxicants in the general environment and male reproductive diseases have not been completely established (Nordkap et al. 2012).

Therefore, further research appears necessary to identify potential underlying factors for male reproductive dysfunction. Two exposures of possible importance are smoking and phthalates.

Smoking and male reproductive function

Smoking is causally related to diseases in nearly all the organs of the body as well as to harm to the foetus (United States. Public Health Service. Office of the Surgeon General. and National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (U.S.). Office on Smoking and Health. 2014). In accordance with this, smoking seems to be associated both with decreased semen quality (Barazani et al. 2014, Li et al. 2011, Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive 2012, Vine 1996) and with an increase in genetic abnormalities both in the sperm (Soares and Melo 2008) and in the cord blood of the offspring (Laubenthal et al. 2012). Nevertheless, whether a man's mother smoked during pregnancy appears to play a larger role than his own smoking, as considers his sperm counts (Paasch et al. 2008, Ravnborg et al. 2011).

Parental smoking and reproductive function in sons

Prenatal exposure to tobacco smoke has been suggested as an explanation for possible time-related decline in semen quality (Storgaard et al. 2003). Maternal smoking has rather consistently been associated with reduced semen quality in sons, whereas associations with the other entities of TDS (TC, cryptorchidism, hypospadias) seem to be less clear (Hakonsen et al. 2014).

Concerning paternal smoking, no statistically significant associations have been reported with sons' reproductive function (Virtanen et al. 2012). Nevertheless, the potential of reduced fertility in sons of smoking men through germ line mutations has been discussed (Shiverick 2011), and daughters of smoking men have been reported to have a shortened reproductive life span (Fukuda et al. 2011).

However, the often high correlation between maternal and paternal smoking may lead to difficulties in separating one from the other as concerns potential associations with sons' reproductive function. In addition, not all studies had access to register-based data on smoking during pregnancy, which may be more accurate than data from questionnaires filled in many years later.

Phthalates

Phthalates, or phthalic acid esters (Figure 4), may belong to the most abundant synthetic chemicals in the environment (Grady and Sathyanarayana 2012). They are used in many diverse products. Some phthalates are used as plasticizers, mostly in soft polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Phthalates differ in length and, consequently also in their chemical properties.

Around one million tons of phthalates is produced per year in Western Europe (Wittassek et al. 2011). The long-chain phthalates are most often used in PVC, were they may constitute up to 40% of the product. They are often found in building materials, cables, floorings and materials in contact with food. The short-chain phthalates are used in non-PVC applications such as in certain personal care products, paints, adhesives and coatings of pharmaceutical tablets (Wittassek et al. 2011).



Figure 4

General structure of phthalates. R and R' are general placeholders which vary in legth depending on the phthalate

Source: "Phthalates" by User: Bryan Derksen - Own work. Licensed under Public Domain via Wikimedia Commons -

http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Phthalates.svg#mediaviewer/File:Phthalates.svg

The most common phthalate was for many years the long-chain phthalate di(2ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) (Figure 5). DEHP has, however, gradually been replaced by di-isononyl phthalate (DiNP) and other long-chain phthalates (Wittassek et al. 2011).

Since phthalates are not chemically bound to the product, they may gradually leak out. As a result the general population is continuously exposed to several phthalates, as shown by the presence of their metabolites in nearly all of samples from different individuals (Wittassek et al. 2011).



Figure 5

Chemical structure of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) Source: "Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate" by Dschanz - Own work using: BKchem. Licensed under Public Domain via Wikimedia Commons - http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Bis(2ethylhexyl)_phthalate.svg#mediaviewer/File:Bis(2-ethylhexyl)_phthalate.svg

Toxicity in animals

Robust reporting in animal literature supports the fact that both DEHP and dibutyl phthalate (DBP) adversely affect the development of the male reproductive tract (Kay et al. 2014). These effects are suggested to be due to a negatively affected function of the Leydig cells. Effects of foetal exposure in male rats include hypospadias, cryptorchidism, malformations of the accessory sex glands such as the seminal vesicles (Albert and Jegou 2014), and reduced weight of the male reproductive organs (Kay et al. 2014).

As mentioned, a specific window of sensitivity has been identified for these disorders of masculinization to occur (Welsh et al. 2008). This period has been called the masculinization programming window (MPW), and is proposed as the period during which the foetal testosterone levels program the formation (Welsh et al. 2008) and the future size (Macleod et al. 2010) of the male reproductive organs.

Nevertheless, administration of certain phthalates also to adult rats can induce testicular effects, including reduction of spermatogenesis (Kay et al. 2014) and sperm motility (Aly et al. 2015, Madkour 2014).

Studies in human tissue

In contrast to animal studies, experimental studies on human testicular tissue have suggested that phthalate exposure does not lead to antiandrogenic effects in the human foetal testis (Kay et al. 2014, Spade et al. 2014). Nevertheless, phthalate exposure has been reported to decrease testosterone production in the adult human testis (Desdoits-

Lethimonier et al. 2012) and to reduce the number of germ cells in the foetal testis of both humans and rats (van den Driesche et al. 2015).

Epidemiologic studies on adult exposure and semen quality

According to a previously mentioned review (Kay et al. 2014), studies examining associations between human phthalate exposure and semen quality have given inconsistent results, although exposure to DBP and DEHP was often associated with some decrease in semen quality. Two later studies reported that urinary or serum phthalate metabolite levels were negatively associated with semen parameters (Kranvogl et al. 2014, Specht et al. 2014). In spite of this, a recent study found no adverse effects of phthalate exposure on couple fecundity (Specht et al. 2015).

Nonetheless, it is generally believed that the foetus is more sensitive to phthalates than the adult individual (Kay et al. 2014).

Epidemiologic studies on prenatal exposure and male reproductive function

Previous studies have considered proxy markers of male reproductive function at early ages, such as cryptorchidism, hypospadias and the distance between the anus and the genitals. This distance is called the anogenital distance (AGD) and has been reported as a marker for androgen action during the foetal life (Dean and Sharpe 2013). The AGD may also be a marker for the adult male reproductive function, including semen quality (Eisenberg et al. 2011, Mendiola et al. 2011), fertility (Eisenberg et al. 2011) and testosterone levels (Eisenberg et al. 2012).

Associations between phthalate exposure and cryptorchidism, hypospadias and AGD were recently reviewed (Albert and Jegou 2014, Kay et al. 2014). One of the reviews concluded that the epidemiological data overall was insufficient (Albert and Jegou 2014), whereas the other concluded that limited evidence was present for an association between prenatal phthalate exposure and a shorter AGD, but that data was insufficient as concerns malformations (Kay et al. 2014). However, in several studies that were included, prenatal exposure was not measured during the critical window, the MPW (Kay et al. 2014).

Since these reviews appeared, two additional studies have been published focusing on prenatal phthalate exposure during the MPW in relation to AGD. The smaller of these studies found that metabolites of DiNP were negatively associated with AGD (Bornehag et al. 2015) whereas the other found a similar association for metabolites of DEHP (Swan et al. 2015), but not for the sole measured metabolite of DiNP.

Another recent study failed to find a negative association between phthalate metabolite levels and levels of testosterone in amniotic fluid, and found no association with cryptorchidism (Jensen et al. 2015). This appears to be in line with the data from experimental studies on the human foetal testis. Nevertheless, the study (Jensen et al. 2015) found that metabolites of DEHP were negatively associated with insulin-like factor 3, which may be a better marker than testosterone as concerns negative impact on the foetal testis (Anand-Ivell and Ivell 2014). Thus, and rogen output may be heavily confounded by acute regulation from the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, and further, exhibits a high level of variance both within and between individuals (Anand-Ivell and Ivell 2014). These circumstances may, therefore, limit the use of testosterone as a parameter of Leydig cell function.

General considerations regarding previous epidemiologic studies

Of the previous studies on phthalate exposure and male reproductive outcomes, only a few studies included measurements of the secondary metabolites of the long-chain phthalates, which are suggested as being the most reliable exposure markers (Wittassek et al. 2011)

Regarding the studies concerning phthalate exposure in adulthood, these have mostly been performed on subfertile men (Kay et al. 2014). Those men may differ from men in the general population as concerns potential associations between exposure and reproductive function. Further, sampling of the exposure and semen parameters was not always performed the same day, despite the short half-lives of the phthalate metabolites (Wittassek et al. 2011). Finally, account was not always taken of the abstinence period despite its association with most variables of semen quality (Levitas et al. 2005), nor always for the urinary dilution which seems to play a role in the concentration of phthalate metabolites in urine (Fromme et al. 2007, Hoppin et al. 2002, Peck et al. 2010).

Regarding previous studies concerning prenatal phthalate exposure, only a few studies focused on exposure during the most sensitive period of the pregnancy, the MPW. In addition, these studies have as yet only used childhood proxy markers for adult male reproductive function, such as AGD or genital malformation. The relevance of these outcomes as concerns semen quality is not fully clear, at least as concerns AGD (Parra et al. 2015). No study to date has examined an association between prenatal phthalate exposure and adult reproductive function, including semen quality.

Taken together, more studies appear to be necessary to clarify associations between both pre- and postnatal exposure to phthalates, and parameters of male reproductive function.

Aims

The overall aims of this thesis were to study whether a recent time-related trend in the male reproductive function of young Swedish men appeared to be present, and to examine associations with environmental factors in order to possibly increase the chances of preventing male reproductive disorders.

The specific aims were:

- 1. to study whether semen quality in young Swedish men had changed over the previous decade;
- 2. to examine associations between prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and semen quality;
- 3. to study associations between prenatal exposure to phthalates and male reproductive function, including both semen quality and hormones;
- 4. to examine associations between adult exposure to phthalates and semen quality.

Subjects and methods

Subjects

For this thesis, two different cohorts of men were used (Cohort A and B).

In both cohorts, the men received SEK 500 (EUR 55) for their participation and signed their informed consent.

Cohort A

This group of men was gathered in 2000 to 2001. During this period about 95% of all Swedish 18-year-old men underwent a medical health examination at the National Service Administration in Sweden (Pliktverket) concerning their possible military service (Richthoff et al. 2002). All 2 255 men who lived within 60 km of the city of Malmö were invited to participate, and 305 men accepted (14%). Of these, the 224 men who were born and raised in Sweden, with mothers born and raised in Sweden, were included in this thesis.

This cohort was used in Paper I only, to study if semen quality had changed between 2000-2001 and 2008-2010.

Cohort B

Between 2008 and 2010, 314 Swedish men (17-20 years old) were recruited, mostly through the medical examination at the National Service Administration. Due to savings in the military budget, only about 25% of all Swedish men around 18 years old underwent this examination during the period. All 1 681 men who were examined from 1 December 2008 to 27 May 2010, fulfilling the criteria above, were invited to participate. Of these, 241 men accepted (14%). In order to achieve a number of approximately 300 men as in Cohort A, another 73 were recruited men through advertisements in schools and as friends of participants.

This cohort was used in all papers (I-IV) included in this thesis.

Physical examination

All men were examined by a physician for varicocele and testicular size, estimated by use of Prader's orchidometer (Figure 6). Total testicular size was calculated by adding the size of the right and the left testicles.



Figure 6 Prader's orchidometer

Questionnaire

All participants filled in information about length and weight, own smoking habits, maternal and paternal smoking habits during pregnancy, indoor parental smoking during childhood and previous testicular trauma leading to discoloration or swelling.

Samples from the men

The day of the examination, the men delivered samples of semen, urine and serum. The semen samples were collected after masturbation at the hospital. The men were asked to keep an abstinence period of 48 to 72 hours (which 42% did), but in each case the actual length was recorded.

Semen analysis

The semen samples were analysed according to the WHO guidelines (World Health Organization. 1999). The laboratory used serves as a reference unit for the external quality control of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology, and the Nordic Association for Andrology.

In addition to standard parameters of semen quality, the proportion of sperm with DNA breaks and of sperm with a low DNA compaction were analysed by use of the Sperm Chromatin Structure Assay (SCSA) (Evenson et al. 1999). These two parameters of sperm DNA structure are called the DNA fragmentation index (DFI) and High DNA stainability (HDS). The latter term refers to a higher binding of a staining chemical in sperm DNA with a low compaction, believed to represent immature sperm (Evenson et al. 2002).

The following parameters of semen quality were used in the studies included in this thesis:

- 1) Semen volume (Papers I-IV)
- 2) Sperm concentration (Papers I-IV)
- 3) Total sperm count (Papers I-IV)
- 4) Proportion of progressively motile sperm (Papers I-IV)
- 5) Proportion of normal sperm (Papers II-IV)
- 6) DFI (Papers II-IV)
- 7) HDS (Papers III-IV)

Analyses of reproductive hormones

For Paper III, serum samples obtained from the men were analysed for reproductive hormones at the Laboratory of Clinical Chemistry, Skåne University Hospital. The following hormones were analysed: testosterone, FSH, LH, SHBG and estradiol. The concentration of free testosterone was calculated according to a previously-published method (Vermeulen et al. 1999)

Register data on maternal smoking

For Paper II, information on maternal smoking in gestational weeks 8 to 12 was derived from the Medical Birth Register (Socialstyrelsen 2009b). This data is recorded by a midwife on the first visit in the maternity ward. This data is missing in only about 5% of the cases and has a low rate of error (Cnattingius et al. 1990).

Maternal sampling in pregnancy

In early pregnancy in Sweden, screening for antibodies to rubella (German measles) is routinely carried out. Unless the woman declines, part of the sample is stored in a biobank.

In order to study associations between prenatal exposure to phthalates and reproductive outcomes (Paper III), we were able to retrieve the maternal samples of 112 men. These samples were taken from the 6^{th} to the 35^{th} week of pregnancy (mean 12 weeks), whereof 69% were taken within the suggested MPW, between 8 and 14 completed gestational weeks.

Analyses of phthalate exposure

Levels of phthalate metabolites in maternal serum (Paper III) and in the participating men's urine and serum (Paper IV) were analysed by use of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS). Levels below the level of detection (LOD) were given the value of LOD divided by 2.

Analyses of maternal serum

In maternal serum (Paper III), we analysed the secondary metabolites of DEHP and DiNP, and a metabolite of nicotine called cotinine.

Following phthalate metabolites were analysed:

For DEHP:

- 1) Mono-(2-ethyl-5-hydroxylhexyl) phthalate (MEHHP);
- 2) Mono-(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate (MEOHP) and;

3) Mono-(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate (MECPP).

For DiNP:

- 4) Mono-(hydroxy-iso-nonyl) phthalate (MHiNP);
- 5) Mono-(oxo-iso-nonyl) phthalate (MOiNP) and;
- 6) Mono-(carboxy-iso-octyl) phthalate (MCiOP).

Description of analytical method

For analysis, $100 \,\mu\text{L}$ of serum was added to isotopically labelled internal standards for all evaluated compounds. The samples were digested with glucuronidase, and proteins precipitated using acetonitrile. The samples were analysed using a triple quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometer coupled to a liquid chromatography system. The analysis was performed in a negative ion mode.

Analyses of men's urine

For the men's urine, ten different metabolites of five different phthalates were analyzed according to a previously-described method (Toft et al. 2012):

Primary metabolite of DEHP:

1) mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP)

Secondary metabolites of DEHP:

- 1) MEHHP
- 2) MEOHP
- 3) MECPP

Secondary metabolites of DiNP:

- 1) MHiNP
- 2) MOiNP
- 3) MCiOP

Metabolite of DBP:

1) monobutyl phthalate (MBP)

Metabolite of butylbenzyl phthalate:

1) monobenzyl phthalate (MBzP)

Metabolite of diethyl phthalate:

1) monoethyl phthalate (MEP)

Analyses of men's serum

In the men's serum, we analysed the already mentioned secondary metabolites of DEHP and DiNP according to another, previously described method (Specht et al. 2014).

Statistical methods

For statistical analyses, the SPSS computer program (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 17 to 22 was used. In all the papers included in this thesis, linear regression models, or more exactly general linear models, were used which allow inclusion of categorized variables. Statistical analyses with semen parameters as outcome variables were adjusted for abstinence period, categorized as < 48, 49-72, 73-96, 97-120 and > 120 hours. Due to skewed distribution of residuals, different variables were transformed in the different papers for a more normal distribution, since normally distributed residuals is an assumption of the statistical method (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013b). We checked improvements in distribution through values of skewness and kurtosis, and through plots to assess normality, scedasticity and linearity.

Urinary levels were adjusted for urinary dilution by dividing the molar concentration of the metabolites with that of creatinine.

Phthalate metabolite levels were transformed by the natural logarithm to increase statistical prediction (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013b).

Differences in logarithmically transformed reproductive variables were back-transformed into ratios.

Paper I

In this paper, we wished to study whether semen quality had changed during the last decade in young Swedish men from the general population (between 2000-2001 [Cohort A] and 2008-2010 [Cohort B]).

We excluded 8 men from Cohort A and 19 men from Cohort B due to a lack of information regarding abstinence period, sperm concentration and due to classification difficulties regarding smoking.

As potential confounders, we included the following variables: abstinence period, cigarette smoking (yes/no), and Body Mass Index (BMI).

Further, we dichotomized sperm concentration (with cut-off limit: 20×10^6 and 40×10^6 , respectively) and progressive sperm motility (cut-off limit: 50%), to calculate whether men in any of the two cohorts were more likely to have a value above the cut-off limit. This was carried out by use of logistic regression.

Paper II

In this paper, we studied associations between parental smoking during pregnancy and semen quality in sons.

The same 19 men were excluded as in Paper I. We chose to use the data from the Medical Birth Register as the source of information regarding maternal smoking due to the risk of a recall bias in the questionnaires answered approximately 18 years later. Data on paternal smoking, however, was only available through the questionnaires.

The values of sperm concentration and total sperm count were transformed by the natural logarithm. Abstinence period was included as a potential confounder.

At first we included subjects' own smoking and maternal and paternal smoking during pregnancy one by one in the analyses, without a simultaneous adjustment for the other two types of exposure.

Secondly, we included all the three exposures in the model at the same time, to adjust for each other.

In order to test the robustness of the results, we adjusted for the extent of maternal smoking (none, 1-9 cigarettes per day, or 10 or more) instead of using maternal smoking as a dichotomized variable. Subsequently, we separately additionally adjusted for indoor parental smoking during childhood, BMI, age, varicocele at examination and previous testicular trauma.

Finally, we studied if associations between one type of exposure (own, maternal or paternal smoking) and an outcome was dependent on any of the other two types. Consequently, the following interaction terms were included one at a time in the model: paternal smoking*maternal smoking, paternal smoking*own smoking, and maternal smoking*own smoking.
Paper III

In this paper, we studied associations between phthalate metabolite levels in maternal serum, and semen parameters and reproductive hormone levels in sons.

We transformed DFI, HDS, testosterone, free testosterone, LH, FSH, SHBG and foetal age by the natural logarithm, and sperm concentration and total sperm count by the cubic root (Sanchez-Pozo et al. 2013).

Associations between exposures and reproductive parameters were studied with adjustment for the following potential confounders: men's BMI, current smoking (yes/no) and paternal smoking during pregnancy (yes/no), as well as foetal age (days), maternal age (years) and level of cotinine at maternal sampling. Semen parameters were additionally adjusted for the abstinence period and hormone levels additionally for the time of day at men's sampling.

Exposure levels were modelled both as continuous variables and as categorized in tertiles. For categorized exposure, we studied differences in the reproductive parameters between the lowest and the highest exposure tertile of each metabolite.

In order to minimize the risk that phthalate exposure in adulthood would be responsible for associations between prenatal levels of a metabolite and a reproductive outcome, we separately additionally adjusted the statistically significant findings for the levels of the same particular metabolite in sons' urine.

Paper IV

In this paper we studied associations between the levels of phthalate metabolites in men's serum and urine, and their semen quality.

Phthalate metabolite levels and semen parameters were transformed as in Paper III, but semen volume was additionally transformed by the natural logarithm.

The following 5 variables were considered as potential confounders: abstinence period, BMI, own smoking and maternal and paternal smoking during pregnancy. After adjusting for these variables, we studied associations between the phthalate metabolite levels (both as continuous variables and as categorized in quartiles) and the semen variables.

Any statistically significant association between a metabolite and an outcome was recalculated with an additional adjustment for levels of the same metabolite in maternal serum during the pregnancy.

Results

Time trend in semen quality over the previous decade

No change in sperm count or motility was found during the period (between 2000-2001 and 2008-2010). Likewise, no change was found in the chances of showing a sperm concentration above 20 or 40 x 10^{6} /mL, or a progressive sperm motility above 50% (**Paper I**).

Own and parental smoking in relation to semen quality

We found no association between the men's own smoking and parameters of semen quality (Paper II).

However, in the analyses adjusted for abstinence time only, paternal smoking during pregnancy was associated with a 33% lower total sperm count (95% confidence interval [95% CI]: 9.5-50%), and with a 4.8 (95% CI: 0.35-9.2) percentage points lower proportion of progressively motile sperm.

In the model that included both abstinence period, own smoking and maternal as well as paternal smoking during the pregnancy, the men whose fathers had been smoking had 31% (95% CI: 4.9-50%) lower total sperm count and 0.51 (95% CI: 0.07-0.94) mL lower semen volume. This was robust to the alternative adjustment for the extent of maternal smoking, and for the additional adjustment for indoor parental smoking during childhood, BMI, age, varicocele and testicular trauma.

We found that maternal and paternal smoking interacted as considers sperm concentration and total sperm count. Thus, both variables were decreased in paternally exposed men (by 35% [95% CI: 8.1-55%] and 46% [95% CI: 21-64%], respectively) only if the mother was a non-smoker (unadjusted total sperm count shown in Figure 7). Likewise, maternal smoking was associated with a reduced sperm concentration (by 36% [95% CI: 3.9-57%]) only in men whose fathers were non-smokers.



Figure 7

Unadjusted total sperm count in relation to paternal smoking in men of non-smoking mothers *original scale (x 10⁶) here transformed by the natural logarithm

Prenatal exposure to phthalates and male reproductive function

Men in the highest maternal exposure tertile of the DiNP metabolite MCiOP had 4.3 (95% CI: 0.89-7.6) mL lower total testicular size and 0.87 (95% CI: 0.28-1.5) mL lower semen volume than men in the lowest exposure tertile (**Paper III**).

Further, men in the highest tertile of the DEHP metabolite MEHHP had 0.70 (95% CI: 0.09-1.3) mL lower semen volume than men in the lowest exposure tertile. As continuous variables, maternal levels of both MCiOP and MEHHP were negatively associated with semen volume (p = 0.048 and 0.005, respectively [for MEHHP shown unadjusted in Figure 8]).



Figure 8

Unadjusted levels of the DEHP metabolite MEHHP in maternal serum during pregnancy, and semen volume in sons

*transformed by the natural logarithm

Men in the highest tertile of MCiOP had 30% (95% CI: 3.6-63%) higher levels of FSH than men in the lowest tertile.

A similar association for the DiNP metabolites MCiOP and MOiNP as continuous variables was found with FSH (p = 0.02 and 0.01, respectively) and for MHiNP and MOiNP with LH (p = 0.01 for both).

These results are summarized in Table 1, and were robust to additional adjustment for the men's own urinary levels of the same metabolites.

Adult exposure to phthalates in relation to semen quality

Exposure markers as continuous variables

Levels of all DEHP and DBP metabolites (MEHP, MECPP, MEOHP, MEHHP and MBP) in urine and MECPP in serum, were negatively associated with progressive sperm motility (p < 0.001-0.03) (**Paper IV**). Urinary MECPP was associated also with HDS (p = 0.04).

Finally, MCiOP was associated with semen volume (p = 0.04).

Categorized exposure markers

When comparing men in the highest urinary exposure quartile with those in the lowest, progressive sperm motility was 11 (95% CI: 5.0-17) percentage points lower in the highest exposure quartile of MECPP (unadjusted difference in Figure 9), 8.7 (95% CI. 2.8-15) percentage points lower in the highest quartile of MEHHP and 6.9 (95% CI: 1.1-13) percentage points lower in the highest quartile of MEOHP.



Figure 9

Unadjusted progressive motility according to levels of the DEHP metabolite MECPP in men's urine Note: boxes include values from the 25th to the 75th percentile; bold horizontal lines depict median values; T-bars extend 1.5 times the height of the box or if less, to minimum and maximum; circles represent outliers, and stars extreme outliers.

Further, men in the highest exposure quartile of MEHP had 26% (95% CI: 5.2-52%) higher HDS than men in the lowest exposure quartile.

All these results are summarized in Table 1, and were robust to additional adjustment for maternal levels of the same metabolite during pregnancy.

Table 1

Summary of statistically significant findings (p < 0.05) between prenatal and adult phthalate metabolite levels and parameters of male reproductive function.

PARENT PHTHALATE	METABOLITE	TESTIS SIZE (ML)		SEMEN VOLUME (ML)		FSH (IU/L)		LH (IU/L)		PROGRESSIVE MOTILITY (%)		HDS (%)	
Time of exposure		Prenatal	Adult	Prenatal	Adult	Prenatal	Adult	Prenatal	Adult	Prenatal	Adult	Prenatal	Adult
DiNP	MCiOP	\downarrow	=	\downarrow	↑ª	\uparrow	=	=	=	=	=	=	=
	MOiNP	=	=	=	=	\uparrow	=	\uparrow	=	=	=	=	=
	MHiNP	=	=	=	=	=	=	\uparrow	=	=	=	=	=
DEHP	MEHP	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	\downarrow	=	\uparrow
	MECPP	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	\downarrow	=	\uparrow
	MEOHP	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	\downarrow	=	=
	MEHHP	=	=	\downarrow	=	=	=	=	=	=	\downarrow	=	=
DBP	MBP	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	=	\downarrow	=	=

Abbreviations: FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; HDS, high DNA stainability; IU/L, international units per litre; LH, luteinizing hormone

^a Disappeared after additional adjustments for prenatal levels.

Discussion

Time trend in semen quality

The absence of a negative trend in sperm count in our men (**Paper I**) seems consistent with the results of another prospective study (Jorgensen et al. 2012) performed in Denmark and published during the course of this PhD project. This study found no decline in semen quality but a slight increase in sperm counts between 1996 and 2010.

However, these results do not exclude a decrease in sperm count having taken place earlier in time. In addition, environmental or lifestyle-related factors during the foetal or adult period may still explain why some men have a higher degree of reproductive dysfunction than others.

We believe that the men included in this thesis provide a fair representation of the population. In support of this, a Danish study with a similar participation rate as ours reported that Danish men, recruited prior to their military service, showed equal levels of hormones that reflect spermatogenesis to men refusing semen sampling (Andersen et al. 2000). This indicates that the participants were not biased in terms of reproductive potential. In addition, we found similar semen parameters in the men recruited prior to possible military service and those recruited through schools or as friends of participants (Paper I).

Smoking exposure and semen quality

In contrast to much other data (Li et al. 2011, Vine 1996), we found no association between own smoking and semen quality (**Paper II**). However, maternal smoking during pregnancy has been more strongly associated with reduced testicular function than has a man's own smoking (Paasch et al. 2008, Ravnborg et al. 2011). This agrees with our findings of an association between maternal smoking and sperm concentration, albeit only in men whose fathers did not smoke during the pregnancy. The association between maternal smoking and reduced sperm counts in sons has been rather consistently reported (Hakonsen et al. 2014, Virtanen et al. 2012). Indeed, the higher prevalence of smoking during pregnancy in Danish than in Finnish women (Jensen et al. 2004) has been suggested as contributing to the difference in male reproductive health between the two countries (Main et al. 2010).

We found a negative association with the sons' sperm counts also for paternal smoking during the pregnancy.

In the study by Carlsen and colleagues (Carlsen et al. 1992) reporting a downward trend in sperm counts from 1940 to 1990, the men for whom information on age was available were around 30 years old. Thus, the pregnancies of these men should have taken place around 1910 to 1960. Since the decrease in sperm counts seemed to be most apparent from 1940 to 1970 (Carlsen et al. 1992), this would reflect pregnancies taking place from around 1910 to 1940. During this period, smoking in men was far more prevalent than in women, and was continuously increasing (Löfdahl and Ström 2007, Ronneberg et al. 1994, Waldron 1991), whereas smoking in women seems to have begun to increase more firmly around 1930.

If the increase in smoking during the 20th century explains a decrease in sperm counts between 1940 and 1990 through prenatal exposure, the decrease in smoking in both genders in Sweden since around 1975 (Socialstyrelsen 2009a) might explain why we found no decrease in semen quality after 2000 (Paper I).

Some previous studies have analysed whether paternal smoking was associated with sons' semen quality (Jensen et al. 2005, Paasch et al. 2008, Ramlau-Hansen et al. 2007, Storgaard et al. 2003), but none of those studies found an association. However, only two of the studies analysed associations with the total sperm count (Paasch et al. 2008, Ramlau-Hansen et al. 2007), which was the variable most firmly associated with paternal smoking in our study.

Further, in view of a generally high correlation between maternal and paternal smoking, it may be difficult to separate their potential associations with the semen variables of their sons. In our study, however, the correlation between maternal and paternal smoking was rather low, with a correlation coefficient of 0.31 (Spearman's rho), which would safely allow inclusion of both variables in the model (Tabachnick and Fidell 2013a). In addition, we had the opportunity to adjust for maternal smoking based on reliable register data from the Swedish Medical Birth Register.

If, in previous studies, maternal and paternal smoking were more strongly correlated with each other than in our study, this might explain the inconsistent results. A parallel possibility is a higher frequency of mothers smoking more than 10 cigarettes per day in other studies. Since the associations of maternal smoking with the sperm counts of their sons is stronger at such high consumption (Storgaard et al. 2003), this might additionally increase the difficulty to distinguish a potential paternal effect.

Tobacco smoke contains established mutagenic and carcinogenic agents (Savitz 2003). In addition, spermatozoa have limited DNA repair ability (Wright et al. 2014) and lack cytoplasmic enzymes for protection against oxidative damage (Agarwal et al. 2014). Thus, we cannot exclude that the association found between paternal smoking and the

lower sperm counts in the sons could be due to epigenetic or genetic changes (Damodaran 2011) transmitted via the fathers' sperm at conception (Shiverick 2011). Accordingly, an elevated degree of mutations in a repetitive DNA sequence (minisatellite) has been reported in children of smoking fathers (Linschooten et al. 2013). This may be regarded in view of an overall much higher number of mutations arising via the father than via the mother (Kong et al. 2012).

Further, paternal smoking has been associated with reduced reproductive life span in daughters (Fukuda et al. 2011) and seems, compared with maternal smoking, to be more strongly associated with childhood cancer in the offspring (Boffetta et al. 2000, Liu et al. 2011). Given experimental evidence of a male-mediated developmental toxicity (Cordier 2008), one explanation for those patterns might be effects mediated via the spermatozoa (Brinkworth 2000, Davis et al. 1992).

Nevertheless, the fact that no other previous study has found paternal smoking during pregnancy to be associated with sperm count in sons indicates the possibility that this finding occurred by chance. This discrepancy in results displays the necessity of further studies before drawing any firmer conclusions.

Phthalate exposure and male reproductive function

In **Paper III**, we found that both DEHP and DiNP, through levels of certain metabolites in maternal sera, appeared to be associated with decreased semen volume. Maternal exposure to DiNP also appeared to be associated with lower testicular size and higher levels of FSH and LH. These hormones are often elevated in men with testicular dysfunction (Simoni and Nieschlag 2010).

Since maternal phthalate metabolitelevels are reported to be associated with metabolite levels in cord blood of the newborn child (Lin et al. 2011), our findings indicate that prenatal exposure to DEHP and DiNP is negatively associated with the adult male reproductive function.

The largest part of the semen volume is produced by the seminal vesicles (Mortimer 1994). Consequently, a reduced growth of these vesicles during development would result in a lower semen volume in adulthood (Sharpe and Skakkebaek 2008). Rat studies have indicated that prenatal phthalate exposure negatively affects the formation of both the seminal vesicles and the testicles (Andrade et al. 2006, Gray et al. 2000, Macleod et al. 2010, Stroheker et al. 2005). However, exposure must include the window of susceptibility, the MPW, for effects to occur (Macleod et al. 2010, Welsh et al. 2008). Thus, a strength of our study was that most of the maternal samples (69%) were collected within the proposed human window for foetal programming of the future size of the male reproductive organs (Macleod et al. 2010, Welsh et al. 2008).

Our results appear to corroborate those of a recent Swedish study (Bornehag et al. 2015) which measured maternal urinary levels of phthalates during the MPW and found that metabolites of DiNP were associated with a shorter AGD, whereas a similar association for metabolites of DEHP lacked statistical significance. Since DEHP is considered to be of higher potency than DiNP (Gray et al. 2000), a potential explanation to the stronger associations for metabolites of DiNP may be their longer half-lives (Cantonwine et al. 2014, Fromme et al. 2007). This would make them more stable as exposure markers. Nevertheless, the largest study to date only found metabolites of DEHP, but not the sole included metabolite of DiNP (MCiOP), to be associated with a shortened AGD (Swan et al. 2015). This might indicate that the associations between phthalate metabolite levels and male reproductive outcomes were due to other factors, differently associated with phthalate metabolite levels in different countries. Such factors may be dietary sources of phthalates, in some way negatively associated with one or more of the reproductive parameters.

The findings in this study seem to contrast with experimental data suggesting that the human foetal testis is refractory to phthalate-induced antiandrogenic effects (Albert and Jegou 2014, Kay et al. 2014, Spade et al. 2014). Still, the possibility that the experimental studies performed have been based on too few individuals to find an effect if only a fraction of a population is sensitive, cannot be completely excluded. In addition, persistent testicular effects might be caused through other pathways than decreased production of testosterone (Spade et al. 2014). As concerns the negative effect on germ cell numbers in human foetal testis recently reported (van den Driesche et al. 2015), one potential reason for finding no associations with sperm numbers in our study may be the much lower exposure occurring in real life than in experimental studies. Another reason might be the great variability in phthalate metabolite levels occurring in humans through environmental exposure (Fisher et al. 2014) which would lead to difficulties in identifying associations. A high variability in sperm counts compared with other semen parameters (Jarow et al. 2013) may add to those difficulties.

As considers the adult exposure to phthalates (**Paper IV**), levels of metabolites of DEHP and DBP were negatively associated with progressive sperm motility. Further, levels of some DEHP metabolites were associated with HDS, which might indicate a negative effect on sperm maturation (Evenson et al. 2002). We also found a positive association between one metabolite of DiNP and semen volume, which was lost after additional adjustments.

Taken together, these findings seem to be in line with DEHP and DBP to belong to the most toxic phthalates to the male reproductive system (Martino-Andrade and Chahoud 2010), and with DEHP and DBP to be the phthalates most often associated with some decrease in semen quality in epidemiologic studies (Kay et al. 2014, Kranvogl et al. 2014). Nevertheless, previous studies in men from the general population did not find an association between phthalate metabolite levels and sperm motility (Han et al. 2014, Joensen et al. 2012, Jönsson et al. 2005, Specht et al. 2014). 46 Still, only one (Joensen et al. 2012) of these studies included measurements of the most appropriate (Wittassek et al. 2011) secondary DEHP metabolites in samples taken the same day as the semen was sampled. This may be important given the metabolites' short half-lives of less than 24 hours (Wittassek et al. 2011). In the same epidemiologic study (Joensen et al. 2012) however, no adjustment was made for abstinence period which seems to play a role in sperm motility (Levitas et al. 2005). In addition, no adjustment was made for urinary dilution which seems to affect the concentrations of phthalate metabolites in urine (Fromme et al. 2007, Hoppin et al. 2002, Peck et al. 2010). These circumstances may have led to decreased ability to detect associations between exposure and outcomes.

Nonetheless, several other epidemiologic studies have reported negative associations between DEHP or DBP exposure and sperm motility, including two occupational studies (Huang et al. 2014, Huang et al. 2011) and some studies on exposure from the general environment (Duty et al. 2003, Hauser et al. 2006, Jurewicz et al. 2013, Kranvogl et al. 2014, Pant et al. 2014, Pant et al. 2011, Pant et al. 2008).

In addition, negative effects of DEHP or DBP on motility have been reported both in human sperm *in vitro* (Fredricsson et al. 1993, Pant et al. 2011) and in rodent spermatozoa (Agarwal et al. 1986, Aly et al. 2015, Erkekoglu et al. 2011, Kwack et al. 2009, Lamb et al. 1987, Madkour 2014, Zhou et al. 2010).

One potential mechanism explaining the association found between DEHP metabolites and sperm immaturity, might be a preterm detachment of the germ cells from the Sertoli cells, as reported in animal tissue (Breslin et al. 2013, Erkekoglu et al. 2011, Gray 1986, Gray and Beamand 1984, Guibert et al. 2013). This might also explain the association found with reduced sperm motility, since immature sperm may have reduced motility (Giwercman et al. 2003). Another mechanism could be through induction of oxidative stress, which phthalate exposure seems associated with in humans (Ferguson et al. 2011, 2012) and which, through phthalate exposure, is reported to negatively affect both the sperm motility of rats (Zhou et al. 2010) and the epididymis (Zhou et al. 2011) where sperm motility is acquired.

Since the associations in **Paper III** and **Paper IV** were robust to the additional adjustments for prenatal and adult exposure to smoking and for the levels of the same metabolite in the opposite window of exposure (prenatal vs adult), this indicates that the exposures were associated with outcomes with some level of independence.

Misclassification of exposures

It seems reasonable that our data on paternal and maternal smoking (**Paper II**) were not completely accurate. Nevertheless, such a misclassification of exposure would have reduced the strength of the observed associations, leading to underestimated findings. In parallel, the short half-lives of the phthalate metabolites (Wittassek et al. 2011) included in this thesis, may have increased the risk of misclassifying the exposure to the different phthalates. Therefore, also the associations between phthalate exposure and reproductive outcomes may be underestimated and if so, probably more than the associations found for parental smoking during pregnancy.

Potential confounding

However, given the observational nature of our studies, we cannot exclude that unidentified factors were associated both with exposures and reproductive outcomes. Consequently, it is hard to draw conclusions regarding causality. However, other experimental and epidemiologic data may indicate that an association is causal, which might seem most conceivable for the association between adult DEHP and DBP exposure and reduced sperm motility (**Paper IV**). At the same time it appears difficult to exclude that the other associations in these papers were causal.

Potential effects of childhood exposures

As concerns parental smoking during pregnancy, the associations we found did not seem to be due to indoor parental smoking during childhood (**Paper II**). This is in line with another study taking this potential confounder into account (Ravnborg et al. 2011).

Concerning the prenatal exposure to phthalates, although foetuses may be more sensitive than newborns (Kay et al. 2014), we cannot exclude that exposure in early childhood, for example through bottle-feeding or PVC-flooring (Carlstedt et al. 2013), could have aggravated (Macleod et al. 2010) potential effects. However, it seems less probable that childhood exposure would have affected sperm motility, which evolves in a few days during adulthood.

Clinical relevance

The seemingly unchanged semen quality during the last decade may indicate an unchanged reproductive potential in young Swedish men during this recent period. In addition, if sperm counts are associated with the risk of TC, our finding may also indicate a levelling off in the increase in TC incidence in 10 to 15 years, since the mean age for this malignancy is between 30 and 35.

Concerning the associations we found between the different exposures and sperm count and sperm motility, those are hard to translate in terms of fertility, especially due to uncertainties regarding causality.

The only exposures associated with sperm counts were paternal and maternal smoking during pregnancy. Nevertheless, both sperm counts and sperm motility are reported to be related to pregnancy rates (van der Steeg et al. 2011, World Health Organization. 2010a). These correlations appear to be continuous in the range of values found in our men (van der Steeg et al. 2011).

Given that the association between sperm motility and pregnancy rate in some studies lacked a threshold (Larsen et al. 2000, van der Steeg et al. 2011), the linear associations between both DEHP and DBP metabolite levels and progressive sperm motility might indicate lower fertility in men with high exposure. Accordingly, elevated phthalate (Wang et al. 2015) and phthalate metabolite levels (Buck Louis et al. 2014, Tranfo et al. 2012) have been reported in men with decreased fertility, albeit inconsistently (Specht et al. 2015). However, it appears more difficult to find associations for these metabolites with half-lives of less than 24 hours with fertility variables, such as time to pregnancy which is counted in months, than with sperm motility which evolves in a few days (Johnson and Varner 1988).

Taken together, if the associations with sperm counts and motility were causal, both prenatal exposure to parental smoking and adult exposure to DEHP and DBP might decrease human fertility at population level. The relative contributions of these factors would, however, be difficult to determine.

Finally, despite the results of the experimental studies contradicting antiandrogenic effects of phthalates in the human foetus, the associations we found between prenatal phthalate exposure and the different reproductive outcomes seem to indicate that the exposure levels present around 20 years ago during the prenatal period of the participants, were negatively associated with their masculinization.

Summary

In all, although no decline in sperm counts appears to have occurred during the last decade in this region, this thesis may have added some additional clues as to how smoking and exposure to phthalates might be associated with altered reproductive function in certain men.

Conclusions

- I) No obvious change in semen quality was found during the previous decade in young Swedish men from the general population.
- II) Parental smoking during pregnancy was associated with lower sperm counts in sons, which seemed most pronounced for paternal smoking.
- III) Levels of certain metabolites of the phthalates DiNP and DEHP in maternal serum from the pregnancy were negatively associated with semen volume. For metabolites of DiNP, associations were also found with a lower testicular size and with altered reproductive hormones.
- IV) Adult exposure to the phthalates DEHP and DBP, through levels of their metabolites, were negatively associated with sperm motility.

Future perspectives

Future studies on smoking and reproductive outcomes may benefit from having maternal cotinine levels during pregnancy as markers for maternal smoking, instead of data based on registers or questionnaires. The cotinine levels measured for Paper III were not available during the publication of Paper II, but may be used in a subsequent study. For other future studies it would be valuable if more robust data on paternal smoking was available than that from questionnaires filled in 18 years after the pregnancy. In addition, to be able to separate potential effects through the father's sperm from other pathways, more specified data on paternal smoking (before, during or after conception) would be necessary.

Further, given the association found between paternal smoking and lower sperm counts and the association reported between paternal smoking and mutations in the offspring (Linschooten et al. 2013), it would be interesting to study whether smoking men show a higher degree of such mutations in their sperm.

Concerning phthalate exposure and reproductive function, a repeated measurement of metabolites would probably increase the statistical power, given the high diurnal variation in metabolite levels. For adult exposure, performing prospective studies in for example semen donors may be considered, in order to see whether a variation in exposure within individuals is associated with a change in semen parameters such as sperm motility.

Finally, more studies appear necessary to identify additional potential confounders to the associations found in this thesis.

Acknowledgements

Detta projekt har varit långt ifrån en egen prestation. Jag vill tacka alla som på något sätt bidragit till detta projekt, inkluderande personal på Reproduktionsmedicinskt centrum i Malmö och Arbets- och miljömedicin i Lund.

Jag vill särskilt tacka följande personer:

Aleksander Giwercman, min huvudhandledare, för allt ditt engagemang, din inspiration och tillgänglighet, och för att du fick mig intresserad av det här området. Tack för dina noggranna och snabba granskningar av manuskript vilket jag tror är få förunnat. Tack också för att jag har fått ta del av din erfarenhet och enorma kunskap.

Lars Rylander, min bihandledare, för ditt tålamod och för all hjälp med statistiska problem och studieupplägg samt för trevliga och upplyftande pratstunder.

Anna Rignell-Hydbom, för studiedesign, medförfattarskap, din tillgänglighet och för trevligt samarbete.

Bo Jönsson, för alltid lika trevliga samtal redan innan det här doktorandprojektet började.

Christian Lindh för trevligt samarbete gällande ftalatstudierna.

Yvonne Giwercman för rådgivning, intressanta diskussioner och tidigare medförfattarskap.

Erna Jeppson-Stridsberg för all hjälp med rekrytering av deltagare.

Cecilia Tingsmark, Mania Winitsky, Susanne Lundin och alla andra som utfört spermaanalyser, samt för hjälp med samtidig barnpassning!

Åsa Amilon och Agneta Kristensen för att ha analyserat ftalatmetaboliterna

Leon Brokken, for letting me in to your office with a whole lot of different problems and taking these issues seriously to discussion, always letting me exit more alleviated.

Saad, för att ha förmedlat detta doktorandprojekt och för fortsatt kontakt under åren sedan du själv var doktorand.

Linus för hjälp med bilder, råd, stöd, underlättande och trevliga stunder under våra samtidiga avhandlingsarbeten.

Alla andra tidigare och nuvarande kollegor i forskargruppen (Patrik, Anna-Karin, Hamideh, Hannah, Christel, Calle, Ida, Ida, Sigrid, Carolina, Johannes, Magdalena, Maria, Saeed, Matilda och Louise) för trevliga fikastunder, goda kakor som jagätit mer av än bidragit med, och för sammanhållningen och den goda stämningen!

Patrik och Anders för att ha hjälpt till att undersöka studiedeltagare.

Irene för alla goda skratt och pratstunder på fester, i fotograferingssammanhang mm.

Monne Wihlborg för delgivande av erfarenhet, stöd och råd under processen.

Yasir, för att ha gått före och visat vägen. Tack också för att du ville följa med mig upp på Fertiltetscentrum för att förhöra oss om fördjupningsarbete under utbildningstiden. Känns tryggt att du varit med sedan dess.

Pappa för att du trodde på mig och uppmuntrade mig och för att du var så lätt att prata med. Jag saknar dig!

Johanna, för all din uppmuntran under projektets gång.

Mormor för alla samtal om alla möjliga frågor och att du alltid tog dig tid att lyssna.

Mamma för all din hjälp från början till slut. Tack för att du hela tiden trott att detta skulle vara möjligt och för allt ditt stöd och all hjälp med barnpassning under tiden. Jag vet inte hur detta skulle gått utan dig.

Charlotta för att du stöttat mig genom de här åren och trott på mig. Tack för all kärlek och för att du ger mening åt mitt liv.

Tack också Ludvig, Oskar och Axel för att påminna mig om att det finns viktigare saker i livet än doktorandarbete

*

Detta arbete har kunnat utföras med ekonomiskt stöd från Enheten för forskning och utveckling i Region Skåne, Vetenskapsrådet, svenska staten (avtal om läkarutbildning och forskning), Universitetsjukhuset MAS fonder, Skånes universitetssjukhus fonder, Naturvårdsverket och Interreg (ReproHigh).

References

- Adams JA, Galloway TS, Mondal D, Esteves SC and Mathews F. Effect of mobile telephones on sperm quality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environ Int.* 2014;70:106-112.
- Agarwal A, Virk G, Ong C and du Plessis SS. Effect of oxidative stress on male reproduction. *World J Mens Health.* 2014;32(1):1-17.
- Agarwal DK, Eustis S, Lamb JCt, Reel JR and Kluwe WM. Effects of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on the gonadal pathophysiology, sperm morphology, and reproductive performance of male rats. *Environ Health Perspect.* 1986;65:343-350.
- Akre O, Cnattingius S, Bergstrom R, Kvist U, Trichopoulos D and Ekbom A. Human fertility does not decline: evidence from Sweden. *Fertil Steril.* 1999;71(6):1066-1069.
- Albert O and Jegou B. A critical assessment of the endocrine susceptibility of the human testis to phthalates from fetal life to adulthood. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2014;20(2):231-249.
- Alukal JP, Lamb DJ, Niederberger CS and Makhlouf AA. Spermatogenesis in the adult. In: Lipshultz LI, Howards SS and Niederberger CS, eds. *Infertility in the male*. Cambridge ; New York, Cambridge University Press; 2009:74-88.
- Aly HA, Hassan MH, El-Beshbishy HA, Alahdal AM and Osman AM. Dibutyl phthalate induces oxidative stress and impairs spermatogenesis in adult rat. *Toxicol Ind Health*. 2015:doi:10.1177/0748233714566877.
- Amann RP. The cycle of the seminiferous epithelium in humans: a need to revisit? *J Androl.* 2008;29(5):469-487.
- Anand-Ivell R and Ivell R. Insulin-like factor 3 as a monitor of endocrine disruption. *Reproduction*. 2014;147(4):R87-95.

- Andersen AG, Jensen TK, Carlsen E, Jorgensen N, Andersson AM, Krarup T, Keiding N and Skakkebaek NE. High frequency of sub-optimal semen quality in an unselected population of young men. *Hum Reprod.* 2000;15(2):366-372.
- Andrade AJ, Grande SW, Talsness CE, Gericke C, Grote K, Golombiewski A, Sterner-Kock A and Chahoud I. A dose response study following in utero and lactational exposure to di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP): reproductive effects on adult male offspring rats. *Toxicology*. 2006;228(1):85-97.
- Barazani Y, Katz BF, Nagler HM and Stember DS. Lifestyle, environment, and male reproductive health. *Urol Clin North Am.* 2014;41(1):55-66.
- Boffetta P, Tredaniel J and Greco A. Risk of childhood cancer and adult lung cancer after childhood exposure to passive smoke: A meta-analysis. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2000;108(1):73-82.
- Boisen KA, Chellakooty M, Schmidt IM, Kai CM, Damgaard IN, Suomi AM, Toppari J, Skakkebaek NE and Main KM. Hypospadias in a cohort of 1072 Danish newborn boys: prevalence and relationship to placental weight, anthropometrical measurements at birth, and reproductive hormone levels at three months of age. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2005;90(7):4041-4046.
- Boisen KA, Kaleva M, Main KM, Virtanen HE, Haavisto AM, Schmidt IM, Chellakooty M, Damgaard IN, Mau C, Reunanen M, Skakkebaek NE and Toppari J. Difference in prevalence of congenital cryptorchidism in infants between two Nordic countries. *Lancet*. 2004;363(9417):1264-1269.
- Bonde JP and Toppari J. Prevention of male infertility: Environmental and systemic disease effects on male fertility. In: Björndahl LBr, L., Giwercman A, Tournaye H, Weidner W and European Association of Urology. Section of Andrological Urology., eds. *Clinical andrology : EAU/ESAU course guidelines*. New York, Informa Healthcare; 2010:164-175.
- Bornehag CG, Carlstedt F, Jonsson BA, Lindh CH, Jensen TK, Bodin A, Jonsson C, Janson S and Swan SH. Prenatal phthalate exposures and anogenital distance in Swedish boys. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2015;123(1):101-107.
- Breslin WJ, Paulman A, Sun-Lin D, Goldstein KM and Derr A. The Inhibin B (InhB)
 Response to the Testicular Toxicants Mono-2-Ethylhexyl Phthalate (MEHP), 1,3
 Dinitrobenzene (DNB), or Carbendazim (CBZ) Following Short-term Repeat
 Dosing in the Male Rat. *Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol.* 2013;98(1):72-81.

- Brinkworth MH. Paternal transmission of genetic damage: findings in animals and humans. *Int J Androl.* 2000;23(3):123-135.
- Brinkworth MH and Handelsman DJ. Environmental Influences on Male Reproductive Health. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. *Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction*. Berlin ; London, Springer; 2010:365-389.
- Buck Louis GM, Sundaram R, Sweeney AM, Schisterman EF, Maisog J and Kannan K. Urinary bisphenol A, phthalates, and couple fecundity: the Longitudinal Investigation of Fertility and the Environment (LIFE) Study. *Fertil Steril.* 2014;101(5):1359-1366.
- Cantonwine DE, Cordero JF, Rivera-Gonzalez LO, Anzalota Del Toro LV, Ferguson KK, Mukherjee B, Calafat AM, Crespo N, Jimenez-Velez B, Padilla IY, Alshawabkeh AN and Meeker JD. Urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations among pregnant women in Northern Puerto Rico: Distribution, temporal variability, and predictors. *Environ Int.* 2014;62C:1-11.
- Carlsen E, Giwercman A, Keiding N and Skakkebaek NE. Evidence for decreasing quality of semen during past 50 years. *BMJ*. 1992;305(6854):609-613.
- Carlstedt F, Jonsson BA and Bornehag CG. PVC flooring is related to human uptake of phthalates in infants. *Indoor Air.* 2013;23(1):32-39.
- Cnattingius S, Ericson A, Gunnarskog J and Kallen B. A quality study of a medical birth registry. *Scand J Soc Med.* 1990;18(2):143-148.
- Cooper TG. Semen Analysis. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. *Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction*. Heidelberg, Springer; 2010:125-138.
- Cooper TG and Yeung C-H. Physiology of sperm maturation and fertilization. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. *Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction*. Heidelberg, Springer; 2010:61-85.
- Cordier S. Evidence for a role of paternal exposures in developmental toxicity. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2008;102(2):176-181.
- Damgaard IN, Skakkebaek NE, Toppari J, Virtanen HE, Shen H, Schramm KW, Petersen JH, Jensen TK, Main KM and Nordic Cryptorchidism Study G. Persistent pesticides in human breast milk and cryptorchidism. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2006;114(7):1133-1138.

- Damodaran TV. Genotoxicities and infertility. In: Gupta RC, ed. *Reproductive and developmental toxicology*. Amsterdam, Elsevier/Academic Press; 2011:923-947.
- Davis DL, Friedler G, Mattison D and Morris R. Male-mediated teratogenesis and other reproductive effects: biologic and epidemiologic findings and a plea for clinical research. *Reprod Toxicol.* 1992;6(4):289-292.
- Dean A and Sharpe RM. Clinical review: Anogenital distance or digit length ratio as measures of fetal androgen exposure: relationship to male reproductive development and its disorders. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2013;98(6):2230-2238.
- Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Albert O, Le Bizec B, Perdu E, Zalko D, Courant F, Lesne L, Guille F, Dejucq-Rainsford N and Jegou B. Human testis steroidogenesis is inhibited by phthalates. *Hum Reprod.* 2012;27(5):1451-1459.
- Duty SM, Silva MJ, Barr DB, Brock JW, Ryan L, Chen Z, Herrick RF, Christiani DC and Hauser R. Phthalate exposure and human semen parameters. *Epidemiology*. 2003;14(3):269-277.
- Eisenberg ML, Hsieh MH, Walters RC, Krasnow R and Lipshultz LI. The relationship between anogenital distance, fatherhood, and fertility in adult men. *PLoS One.* 2011;6(5):e18973.
- Eisenberg ML, Jensen TK, Walters RC, Skakkebaek NE and Lipshultz LI. The relationship between anogenital distance and reproductive hormone levels in adult men. *J Urol.* 2012;187(2):594-598.
- Engholm G, Ferlay J, Christensen N, Bray F, Gjerstorff ML, Klint A, Kotlum JE, Olafsdottir E, Pukkala E and Storm HH. NORDCAN--a Nordic tool for cancer information, planning, quality control and research. *Acta Oncol.* 2010;49(5):725-736.
- Engholm G, Ferlay J, Christensen N, Kejs A, Johannesen T, Khan S, Milter M, Ólafsdóttir E, Petersen T, Pukkala E, Stentz F and Storm H. (2014,23/03/2015). NORDCAN: Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Prevalence and Survival in the Nordic Countries, Version 7.0 (17.12.2014). Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries. Danish Cancer Society., from www.ancr.nu.
- Erkekoglu P, Zeybek ND, Giray B, Asan E, Arnaud J and Hincal F. Reproductive toxicity of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in selenium-supplemented and selenium-deficient rats. *Drug Chem Toxicol.* 2011;34(4):379-389.

- Evans TJ. Reproductive toxicology and endocrine disruption. In: Gupta RC, ed. *Veterinary toxicology : basic and clinical principles.* Amsterdam ; Boston, Elsevier Academic Press; 2007:206-244.
- Evenson DP, Jost LK, Marshall D, Zinaman MJ, Clegg E, Purvis K, de Angelis P and Claussen OP. Utility of the sperm chromatin structure assay as a diagnostic and prognostic tool in the human fertility clinic. *Hum Reprod.* 1999;14(4):1039-1049.
- Evenson DP, Larson KL and Jost LK. Sperm chromatin structure assay: its clinical use for detecting sperm DNA fragmentation in male infertility and comparisons with other techniques. *J Androl.* 2002;23(1):25-43.
- Ferguson KK, Loch-Caruso R and Meeker JD. Urinary phthalate metabolites in relation to biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress: NHANES 1999-2006. *Environ Res.* 2011;111(5):718-726.
- Ferguson KK, Loch-Caruso R and Meeker JD. Exploration of oxidative stress and inflammatory markers in relation to urinary phthalate metabolites: NHANES 1999-2006. Environ Sci Technol. 2012;46(1):477-485.
- Fisch H and Braun SR. Trends in global semen parameter values. *Asian J Androl.* 2013;15(2):169-173.
- Fisher JS, Macpherson S, Marchetti N and Sharpe RM. Human 'testicular dysgenesis syndrome': a possible model using in-utero exposure of the rat to dibutyl phthalate. *Hum Reprod.* 2003;18(7):1383-1394.
- Fisher M, Arbuckle TE, Mallick R, LeBlanc A, Hauser R, Feeley M, Koniecki D, Ramsay T, Provencher G, Berube R and Walker M Bisphenol A and phthalate metabolite urinary concentrations: Daily and across pregnancy variability. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol* 2014; DOI: 10.1038/jes.2014.65.
- Foster PM. Disruption of reproductive development in male rat offspring following in utero exposure to phthalate esters. *Int J Androl.* 2006;29(1):140-147; discussion 181-145.
- Fredricsson B, Moller L, Pousette A and Westerholm R. Human sperm motility is affected by plasticizers and diesel particle extracts. *Pharmacol Toxicol.* 1993;72(2):128-133.
- Fromme H, Bolte G, Koch HM, Angerer J, Boehmer S, Drexler H, Mayer R and Liebl B. Occurrence and daily variation of phthalate metabolites in the urine of an adult population. *Int J Hyg Environ Health.* 2007;210(1):21-33.

- Fukuda M, Fukuda K, Shimizu T, Nobunaga M, Andersen EW, Byskov AG and Andersen CY. Paternal smoking habits affect the reproductive life span of daughters. *Fertil Steril.* 2011;95(8):2542-2544.
- Garner MJ, Turner MC, Ghadirian P and Krewski D. Epidemiology of testicular cancer: an overview. *Int J Cancer.* 2005;116(3):331-339.
- Gilfillan SC. Lead Poisoning and the Fall of Rome. J Occup Med. 1965;7:53-60.
- Giwercman A, Richthoff J, Hjollund H, Bonde JP, Jepson K, Frohm B and Spano M. Correlation between sperm motility and sperm chromatin structure assay parameters. *Fertil Steril.* 2003;80(6):1404-1412.
- Grady R and Sathyanarayana S. An update on phthalates and male reproductive development and function. *Curr Urol Rep.* 2012;13(4):307-310.
- Gray LE, Jr., Ostby J, Furr J, Price M, Veeramachaneni DN and Parks L. Perinatal exposure to the phthalates DEHP, BBP, and DINP, but not DEP, DMP, or DOTP, alters sexual differentiation of the male rat. *Toxicol Sci.* 2000;58(2):350-365.
- Gray TJ. Testicular toxicity in vitro: Sertoli-germ cell co-cultures as a model system. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 1986;24(6-7):601-605.
- Gray TJ and Beamand JA. Effect of some phthalate esters and other testicular toxins on primary cultures of testicular cells. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 1984;22(2):123-131.
- Guibert E, Prieur B, Cariou R, Courant F, Antignac JP, Pain B, Brillard JP and Froment P. Effects of mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP) on chicken germ cells cultured in vitro. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* 2013;20(5):2771-2783.
- Hakonsen LB, Ernst A and Ramlau-Hansen CH. Maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy and reproductive health in children: a review of epidemiological studies. *Asian J Androl.* 2014;16(1):39-49.
- Hamlin HJ and Guillette LJ, Jr. Wildlife as sentinels of environmental impacts on reproductibe health and fertility. In: Woodruff TJ, ed. *Environmental impacts on reproductive health and fertility*. Cambridge ; New York, Cambridge University Press; 2010:103-114.

- Han X, Cui Z, Zhou N, Ma M, Li L, Li Y, Lin H, Ao L, Shu W, Liu J and Cao J. Urinary phthalate metabolites and male reproductive function parameters in Chongqing general population, China. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*. 2014;217(2-3):271-278.
- Hardell L, Bavel B, Lindstrom G, Eriksson M and Carlberg M. In utero exposure to persistent organic pollutants in relation to testicular cancer risk. *Int J Androl.* 2006;29(1):228-234.
- Hass U, Scholze M, Christiansen S, Dalgaard M, Vinggaard AM, Axelstad M, Metzdorff SB and Kortenkamp A. Combined exposure to anti-androgens exacerbates disruption of sexual differentiation in the rat. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2007;115 Suppl 1:122-128.
- Hauser R, Meeker JD, Duty S, Silva MJ and Calafat AM. Altered semen quality in relation to urinary concentrations of phthalate monoester and oxidative metabolites. *Epidemiology*. 2006;17(6):682-691.
- Heller CH and Clermont Y. Kinetics of the Germinal Epithelium in Man. *Recent Prog Horm Res.* 1964;20:545-575.
- Hemminki K and Li X. Cancer risks in Nordic immigrants and their offspring in Sweden. *Eur J Cancer.* 2002;38(18):2428-2434.
- Hoppin JA, Brock JW, Davis BJ and Baird DD. Reproducibility of urinary phthalate metabolites in first morning urine samples. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2002;110(5):515-518.
- Huang LP, Lee CC, Fan JP, Kuo PH, Shih TS and Hsu PC. Urinary metabolites of di(2ethylhexyl) phthalate relation to sperm motility, reactive oxygen species generation, and apoptosis in polyvinyl chloride workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*. 2014;87(6):635-646.
- Huang LP, Lee CC, Hsu PC and Shih TS. The association between semen quality in workers and the concentration of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in polyvinyl chloride pellet plant air. *Fertil Steril.* 2011;96(1):90-94.
- Jarow JP, Fang X and Hammad TA. Variability of semen parameters with time in placebo treated men. *J Urol.* 2013;189(5):1825-1829.
- Jensen MS, Anand-Ivell R, Norgaard-Pedersen B, Jonsson BA, Bonde JP, Hougaard DM, Cohen A, Lindh CH, Ivell R and Toft G. Amniotic fluid phthalate levels and male fetal gonad function. *Epidemiology*. 2015;26(1):91-99.

- Jensen MS, Mabeck LM, Toft G, Thulstrup AM and Bonde JP. Lower sperm counts following prenatal tobacco exposure. *Hum Reprod.* 2005;20(9):2559-2566.
- Jensen TK, Bonde JP and Joffe M. The influence of occupational exposure on male reproductive function. *Occup Med (Lond)*. 2006;56(8):544-553.
- Jensen TK, Gottschau M, Madsen JO, Andersson AM, Lassen TH, Skakkebaek NE, Swan SH, Priskorn L, Juul A and Jorgensen N. Habitual alcohol consumption associated with reduced semen quality and changes in reproductive hormones; a cross-sectional study among 1221 young Danish men. *BMJ Open.* 2014;4(9):e005462.
- Jensen TK, Jorgensen N, Punab M, Haugen TB, Suominen J, Zilaitiene B, Horte A, Andersen AG, Carlsen E, Magnus O, Matulevicius V, Nermoen I, Vierula M, Keiding N, Toppari J and Skakkebaek NE. Association of in utero exposure to maternal smoking with reduced semen quality and testis size in adulthood: a crosssectional study of 1,770 young men from the general population in five European countries. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2004;159(1):49-58.
- Joensen UN, Frederiksen H, Jensen MB, Lauritsen MP, Olesen IA, Lassen TH, Andersson AM and Jorgensen N. Phthalate excretion pattern and testicular function: a study of 881 healthy Danish men. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2012;120(10):1397-1403.
- Joffe M, Holmes J, Jensen TK, Keiding N and Best N. Time trends in biological fertility in Western Europe. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2013;178(5):722-730.
- Johnson L and Varner DD. Effect of daily spermatozoan production but not age on transit time of spermatozoa through the human epididymis. *Biol Reprod.* 1988;39(4):812-817.
- Jönsson BA, Richthoff J, Rylander L, Giwercman A and Hagmar L. Urinary phthalate metabolites and biomarkers of reproductive function in young men. *Epidemiology*. 2005;16(4):487-493.
- Jorgensen N, Carlsen E, Nermoen I, Punab M, Suominen J, Andersen AG, Andersson AM, Haugen TB, Horte A, Jensen TK, Magnus O, Petersen JH, Vierula M, Toppari J and Skakkebaek NE. East-West gradient in semen quality in the Nordic-Baltic area: a study of men from the general population in Denmark, Norway, Estonia and Finland. *Hum Reprod.* 2002;17(8):2199-2208.
- Jorgensen N, Joensen UN, Jensen TK, Jensen MB, Almstrup K, Olesen IA, Juul A, Andersson AM, Carlsen E, Petersen JH, Toppari J and Skakkebaek NE. Human semen quality

in the new millennium: a prospective cross-sectional population-based study of 4867 men. *BMJ Open.* 2012;2(4):e000990.

- Jurewicz J, Hanke W, Radwan M and Bonde JP. Environmental factors and semen quality. Int J Occup Med Environ Health. 2009;22(4):305-329.
- Jurewicz J, Radwan M, Sobala W, Ligocka D, Radwan P, Bochenek M, Hawula W, Jakubowski L and Hanke W. Human urinary phthalate metabolites level and main semen parameters, sperm chromatin structure, sperm aneuploidy and reproductive hormones. *Reprod Toxicol.* 2013;42:232-241.
- Juul A, Almstrup K, Andersson AM, Jensen TK, Jorgensen N, Main KM, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Toppari J and Skakkebaek NE. Possible fetal determinants of male infertility. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2014;10(9):553-562.
- Kay VR, Bloom MS and Foster WG. Reproductive and developmental effects of phthalate diesters in males. *Crit Rev Toxicol.* 2014:1-32.
- Kong A, Frigge ML, Masson G, Besenbacher S, Sulem P, Magnusson G, Gudjonsson SA, Sigurdsson A, Jonasdottir A, Jonasdottir A, Wong WS, Sigurdsson G, Walters GB, Steinberg S, Helgason H, Thorleifsson G, Gudbjartsson DF, Helgason A, Magnusson OT, Thorsteinsdottir U and Stefansson K. Rate of de novo mutations and the importance of father's age to disease risk. *Nature*. 2012;488(7412):471-475.
- Kranvogl R, Knez J, Miuc A, Voncina E, Voncina DB and Vlaisavljevic V. Simultaneous determination of phthalates, their metabolites, alkylphenols and bisphenol A using GC-MS in urine of men with fertility problems. *Acta Chim Slov.* 2014;61(1):110-120.
- Kwack SJ, Kim KB, Kim HS and Lee BM. Comparative toxicological evaluation of phthalate diesters and metabolites in Sprague-Dawley male rats for risk assessment. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 2009;72(21-22):1446-1454.
- Lamb JCt, Chapin RE, Teague J, Lawton AD and Reel JR. Reproductive effects of four phthalic acid esters in the mouse. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 1987;88(2):255-269.
- Larsen L, Scheike T, Jensen TK, Bonde JP, Ernst E, Hjollund NH, Zhou Y, Skakkebaek NE and Giwercman A. Computer-assisted semen analysis parameters as predictors for fertility of men from the general population. The Danish First Pregnancy Planner Study Team. *Hum Reprod.* 2000;15(7):1562-1567.

- Larsen WJ. Development of the Urogenital System. In: Larsen WJ, ed. *Human embryology*. New York, Churchill Livingstone; 2001:265-313.
- Lassen TH, Sobotka T, Jensen TK, Jacobsen R, Erb K and Skakkebaek NE. Trends in rates of natural conceptions among Danish women born during 1960-1984. *Hum Reprod.* 2012;27(9):2815-2822.
- Laubenthal J, Zlobinskaya O, Poterlowicz K, Baumgartner A, Gdula MR, Fthenou E, Keramarou M, Hepworth SJ, Kleinjans JC, van Schooten FJ, Brunborg G, Godschalk RW, Schmid TE and Anderson D. Cigarette smoke-induced transgenerational alterations in genome stability in cord blood of human F1 offspring. *FASEB J.* 2012;26(10):3946-3956.
- Levitas E, Lunenfeld E, Weiss N, Friger M, Har-Vardi I, Koifman A and Potashnik G. Relationship between the duration of sexual abstinence and semen quality: analysis of 9,489 semen samples. *Fertil Steril.* 2005;83(6):1680-1686.
- Li Y, Lin H, Li Y and Cao J. Association between socio-psycho-behavioral factors and male semen quality: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Fertil Steril.* 2011;95(1):116-123.
- Lin S, Ku HY, Su PH, Chen JW, Huang PC, Angerer J and Wang SL. Phthalate exposure in pregnant women and their children in central Taiwan. *Chemosphere*. 2011;82(7):947-955.
- Linschooten JO, Verhofstad N, Gutzkow K, Olsen AK, Yauk C, Oligschlager Y, Brunborg G, van Schooten FJ and Godschalk RW. Paternal lifestyle as a potential source of germline mutations transmitted to offspring. *FASEB J.* 2013;27(7):2873-2879.
- Liu R, Zhang L, McHale CM and Hammond SK. Paternal smoking and risk of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Oncol.* 2011;2011:854584.
- Löfdahl K and Ström K. [Increasing morbidity and mortality in women with COPD]. *Lakartidningen.* 2007;104(13):1040-1042.
- Macleod DJ, Sharpe RM, Welsh M, Fisken M, Scott HM, Hutchison GR, Drake AJ and van den Driesche S. Androgen action in the masculinization programming window and development of male reproductive organs. *Int J Androl.* 2010;33(2):279-287.
- Madkour NK. Beneficial role of celery oil in lowering the di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate-induced testicular damage. *Toxicol Ind Health.* 2014;30(9):861-872.

- Main KM, Kiviranta H, Virtanen HE, Sundqvist E, Tuomisto JT, Tuomisto J, Vartiainen T, Skakkebaek NE and Toppari J. Flame retardants in placenta and breast milk and cryptorchidism in newborn boys. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2007;115(10):1519-1526.
- Main KM, Skakkebaek NE, Virtanen HE and Toppari J. Genital anomalies in boys and the environment. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2010;24(2):279-289.
- Main KM, Toppari J, Suomi AM, Kaleva M, Chellakooty M, Schmidt IM, Virtanen HE, Boisen KA, Kai CM, Damgaard IN and Skakkebaek NE. Larger testes and higher inhibin B levels in Finnish than in Danish newborn boys. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2006;91(7):2732-2737.
- Martino-Andrade AJ and Chahoud I. Reproductive toxicity of phthalate esters. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2010;54(1):148-157.
- McGlynn KA, Quraishi SM, Graubard BI, Weber JP, Rubertone MV and Erickson RL. Persistent organochlorine pesticides and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2008;100(9):663-671.
- Mendiola J, Stahlhut RW, Jorgensen N, Liu F and Swan SH. Shorter anogenital distance predicts poorer semen quality in young men in Rochester, New York. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2011;119(7):958-963.
- Mortimer D. Sperm physiology. *Practical laboratory andrology*. New York, Oxford University Press; 1994:13-42.
- Myrup C, Westergaard T, Schnack T, Oudin A, Ritz C, Wohlfahrt J and Melbye M. Testicular cancer risk in first- and second-generation immigrants to Denmark. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2008;100(1):41-47.
- Nieschlag E. Scope and Goals of Andrology. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. *Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction*. Heidelberg, Springer; 2010:1-10.
- Nordkap L, Joensen UN, Blomberg Jensen M and Jorgensen N. Regional differences and temporal trends in male reproductive health disorders: semen quality may be a sensitive marker of environmental exposures. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2012;355(2):221-230.

- O'Donnell L, Meachem SJ, Stanton PG and McLachlan RI. Endocrine regulation of spermatogenesis. In: Knobil E and Neill JD, eds. *Knobil and Neill's physiology of reproduction*. Amsterdam ; Boston, Elsevier; 2006:1017-1069.
- Olesen IA, Sonne SB, Hoei-Hansen CE, Rajpert-DeMeyts E and Skakkebaek NE. Environment, testicular dysgenesis and carcinoma in situ testis. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2007;21(3):462-478.
- Paasch U, Salzbrunn A, Glander HJ, Plambeck K, Salzbrunn H, Grunewald S, Stucke J, Vierula M, Skakkebaek NE and Jorgensen N. Semen quality in sub-fertile range for a significant proportion of young men from the general German population: a coordinated, controlled study of 791 men from Hamburg and Leipzig. *Int J Androl.* 2008;31(2):93-102.
- Pacey AA. Are sperm counts declining? Or did we just change our spectacles? *Asian J Androl.* 2013;15(2):187-190.
- Pant N, Kumar G, Upadhyay AD, Patel DK, Gupta YK and Chaturvedi PK. Reproductive toxicity of lead, cadmium, and phthalate exposure in men. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* 2014;21(18):11066-11074.
- Pant N, Pant A, Shukla M, Mathur N, Gupta Y and Saxena D. Environmental and experimental exposure of phthalate esters: the toxicological consequence on human sperm. *Hum Exp Toxicol.* 2011;30(6):507-514.
- Pant N, Shukla M, Kumar Patel D, Shukla Y, Mathur N, Kumar Gupta Y and Saxena DK. Correlation of phthalate exposures with semen quality. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 2008;231(1):112-116.
- Parra MD, Mendiola J, Jorgensen N, Swan SH and Torres-Cantero AM Anogenital distance and reproductive parameters in young men. *Andrologia* 2015; DOI: 10.1111/and.12403.
- Peck JD, Sweeney AM, Symanski E, Gardiner J, Silva MJ, Calafat AM and Schantz SL. Intraand inter-individual variability of urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations in Hmong women of reproductive age. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol.* 2010;20(1):90-100.
- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive M. Smoking and infertility: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril.* 2012;98(6):1400-1406.

- Priskorn L, Holmboe SA, Jacobsen R, Jensen TK, Lassen TH and Skakkebaek NE. Increasing trends in childlessness in recent birth cohorts a registry-based study of the total Danish male population born from 1945 to 1980. *Int J Androl.* 2012;35(3):449-455.
- Ramlau-Hansen CH, Thulstrup AM, Storgaard L, Toft G, Olsen J and Bonde JP. Is prenatal exposure to tobacco smoking a cause of poor semen quality? A follow-up study. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;165(12):1372-1379.
- Ravnborg TL, Jensen TK, Andersson AM, Toppari J, Skakkebaek NE and Jorgensen N. Prenatal and adult exposures to smoking are associated with adverse effects on reproductive hormones, semen quality, final height and body mass index. *Hum Reprod.* 2011;26(5):1000-1011.
- Richthoff J, Rylander L, Hagmar L, Malm J and Giwercman A. Higher sperm counts in Southern Sweden compared with Denmark. *Hum Reprod.* 2002;17(9):2468-2473.
- Ronneberg A, Lund KE and Hafstad A. Lifetime smoking habits among Norwegian men and women born between 1890 and 1974. *Int J Epidemiol.* 1994;23(2):267-276.
- Sanchez-Pozo MC, Mendiola J, Serrano M, Mozas J, Bjorndahl L, Menkveld R, Lewis SE, Mortimer D, Jorgensen N, Barratt CL, Fernandez MF and Castilla JA. Proposal of guidelines for the appraisal of SEMen QUAlity studies (SEMQUA). *Hum Reprod.* 2013;28(1):10-21.
- Savitz DA. Paternal exposure to known mutagens and health of the offspring: ionizing radiation and tobacco smoke. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2003;518:49-57.
- Sharpe RM. Pathways of endocrine disruption during male sexual differentiation and masculinization. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2006;20(1):91-110.
- Sharpe RM and Skakkebaek NE. Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: mechanistic insights and potential new downstream effects. *Fertil Steril.* 2008;89(2 Suppl):e33-38.
- Shiverick KT. Cigarette smoking and reproductive and developmental toxicology. In: Gupta RC, ed. *Reproductive and developmental toxicology*. Amsterdam, Elsevier/Academic Press; 2011:319-331.
- Simoni M and Nieschlag E. Endocrine Laboratory Diagnosis. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction. Berlin ; London, Springer; 2010:109-118.

- Skakkebaek NE, Rajpert-De Meyts E and Main KM. Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: an increasingly common developmental disorder with environmental aspects. *Hum Reprod.* 2001;16(5):972-978.
- Soares SR and Melo MA. Cigarette smoking and reproductive function. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol.* 2008;20(3):281-291.

Socialstyrelsen. Folkhälsorapport 2009. Stockholm, Socialstyrelsen; 2009a.

- Socialstyrelsen. (2009b). Pregnancies, Deliveries and Newborn Infants The Swedish Medical Birth Register 1973-2009 - Assisted Reproduction, treatment 1991-2008 Official Statistics of Sweden, Statistics - Health and Medical Care Retrieved 20 August, 2012, from http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/Lists/Artikelkatalog/Attachments/18267/2011-3-19.pdf.
- Sokol RZ. Endocrine evaluation. In: Lipshultz LI, Howards SS and Niederberger CS, eds. *Infertility in the male.* Cambridge ; New York, Cambridge University Press; 2009:199-214.
- Spade DJ, Hall SJ, Saffarini CM, Huse SM, McDonnell EV and Boekelheide K. Differential Response to Abiraterone Acetate and Di-n-butyl Phthalate in an Androgen-Sensitive Human Fetal Testis Xenograft Bioassay. *Toxicol Sci.* 2014;138(1):148-160.
- Specht IO, Bonde JP, Toft G, Lindh CH, Jonsson BA and Jorgensen KT. Serum phthalate levels and time to pregnancy in couples from greenland, poland and ukraine. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(3):e0120070.
- Specht IO, Toft G, Hougaard KS, Lindh CH, Lenters V, Jonsson BA, Heederik D, Giwercman A and Bonde JP. Associations between serum phthalates and biomarkers of reproductive function in 589 adult men. *Environ Int.* 2014;66:146-156.
- Storgaard L, Bonde JP, Ernst E, Spano M, Andersen CY, Frydenberg M and Olsen J. Does smoking during pregnancy affect sons' sperm counts? *Epidemiology*. 2003;14(3):278-286.
- Stroheker T, Cabaton N, Nourdin G, Regnier JF, Lhuguenot JC and Chagnon MC. Evaluation of anti-androgenic activity of di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate. *Toxicology*. 2005;208(1):115-121.
- Swan SH, Elkin EP and Fenster L. The question of declining sperm density revisited: an analysis of 101 studies published 1934-1996. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2000;108(10):961-966.

- Swan SH, Sathyanarayana S, Barrett ES, Janssen S, Liu F, Nguyen RH, Redmon JB and Team TS. First trimester phthalate exposure and anogenital distance in newborns. *Hum Reprod.* 2015;30(4):963-972.
- Tabachnick BG and Fidell LS. Cleaning Up Your Act. In: Tabachnick BG and Fidell LS, eds. *Using multivariate statistics.* Boston, Mass. ; London, Pearson; 2013a:60-116.
- Tabachnick BG and Fidell LS. Multiple Regression. In: Tabachnick BG and Fidell LS, eds. *Using multivariate statistics.* Boston, Mass. ; London, Pearson; 2013b:117-196.
- Toft G, Jonsson BA, Lindh CH, Jensen TK, Hjollund NH, Vested A and Bonde JP. Association between pregnancy loss and urinary phthalate levels around the time of conception. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2012;120(3):458-463.
- Toppari J, Kaleva M and Virtanen HE. Trends in the incidence of cryptorchidism and hypospadias, and methodological limitations of registry-based data. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2001;7(3):282-286.
- Toppari J, Larsen JC, Christiansen P, Giwercman A, Grandjean P, Guillette LJ, Jr., Jegou B, Jensen TK, Jouannet P, Keiding N, Leffers H, McLachlan JA, Meyer O, Muller J, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Scheike T, Sharpe R, Sumpter J and Skakkebaek NE. Male reproductive health and environmental xenoestrogens. *Environ Health Perspect*. 1996;104 Suppl 4:741-803.
- Toppari J, Virtanen HE, Main KM and Skakkebaek NE. Cryptorchidism and hypospadias as a sign of testicular dysgenesis syndrome (TDS): environmental connection. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* 2010;88(10):910-919.
- Trabert B, Chen J, Devesa SS, Bray F and McGlynn KA. International patterns and trends in testicular cancer incidence, overall and by histologic subtype, 1973-2007. *Andrology*. 2015;3(1):4-12.
- Tranfo G, Caporossi L, Paci E, Aragona C, Romanzi D, De Carolis C, De Rosa M, Capanna S, Papaleo B and Pera A. Urinary phthalate monoesters concentration in couples with infertility problems. *Toxicol Lett.* 2012;213(1):15-20.
- Turner TT. The epididymis and accessory sex gland function. In: Lipshultz LI, Howards SS and Niederberger CS, eds. *Infertility in the male.* Cambridge ; New York, Cambridge University Press; 2009:90-103.

- United States. Public Health Service. Office of the Surgeon General. and National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (U.S.). Office on Smoking and Health. The health consequences of smoking--50 years of progress : a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2014.
- van den Driesche S, McKinnell C, Calarrao A, Kennedy L, Hutchison GR, Hrabalkova L, Jobling MS, Macpherson S, Anderson RA, Sharpe RM and Mitchell RT. Comparative Effects of Di(n-Butyl) Phthalate Exposure on Fetal Germ Cell Development in the Rat and in Human Fetal Testis Xenografts. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2015;123(3):223-230.
- van der Steeg JW, Steures P, Eijkemans MJ, JD FH, Hompes PG, Kremer JA, van der Leeuw-Harmsen L, Bossuyt PM, Repping S, Silber SJ, Mol BW and van der Veen F. Role of semen analysis in subfertile couples. *Fertil Steril.* 2011;95(3):1013-1019.
- Vermeulen A, Verdonck L and Kaufman JM. A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1999;84(10):3666-3672.
- Vine MF. Smoking and male reproduction: a review. Int J Androl. 1996;19(6):323-337.
- Virtanen HE, Kaleva M, Haavisto AM, Schmidt IM, Chellakooty M, Main KM, Skakkebaek NE and Toppari J. The birth rate of hypospadias in the Turku area in Finland. *APMIS.* 2001;109(2):96-100.
- Virtanen HE, Sadov S and Toppari J. Prenatal exposure to smoking and male reproductive health. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* 2012;19(3):228-232.
- Waldron I. Patterns and causes of gender differences in smoking. Soc Sci Med. 1991;32(9):989-1005.
- Wang SY, Wang Y, Xie FQ, Li YX, Wan XL, Ma WW, Wang DC and Wu YH. Analysis of PAEs in semen of infertile men. *Int J Occup Environ Health.* 2015;21(1):40-48.
- Weinbauer GF, Luetjens CM, Simoni M and Nieschlag E. Physiology of Testicular function. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM and Nieschlag S, eds. Andrology : male reproductive health and dysfunction. Heidelberg, Springer; 2010:11-59.
- Welsh M, Saunders PT, Fisken M, Scott HM, Hutchison GR, Smith LB and Sharpe RM. Identification in rats of a programming window for reproductive tract

masculinization, disruption of which leads to hypospadias and cryptorchidism. *J Clin Invest.* 2008;118(4):1479-1490.

- Wittassek M, Koch HM, Angerer J and Bruning T. Assessing exposure to phthalates the human biomonitoring approach. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2011;55(1):7-31.
- World Health Organization. WHO laboratory manual for the examination of human semen and sperm-cervical mucus interaction. Cambridge, UK; New York, NY, Published on behalf of the World Health Organization [by] Cambridge University Press; 1999.
- World Health Organization. Standard procedures. In: World Health Organization., ed. WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2010a:7-114.
- World Health Organization. WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen. Geneva, World Health Organization; 2010b.
- Wright C, Milne S and Leeson H. Sperm DNA damage caused by oxidative stress: modifiable clinical, lifestyle and nutritional factors in male infertility. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 2014;28(6):684-703.
- Zhou D, Wang H and Zhang J. Di-n-butyl phthalate (DBP) exposure induces oxidative stress in epididymis of adult rats. *Toxicol Ind Health.* 2011;27(1):65-71.
- Zhou D, Wang H, Zhang J, Gao X, Zhao W and Zheng Y. Di-n-butyl phthalate (DBP) exposure induces oxidative damage in testes of adult rats. *Syst Biol Reprod Med.* 2010;56(6):413-419.
- Znaor A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A and Bray F. International variations and trends in testicular cancer incidence and mortality. *Eur Urol.* 2014;65(6):1095-1106.

Original papers